
Homicides and Suspicious Deaths of Adults in Vermont, 1798-1820PRIVATE 

Class of death:   

Class of crime:   


Relationship:    


Motive:  

Intoxication?:  

Day of week:


Holiday?:


Time of day:


Days until death:  


SUSPECT(s):


VICTIM(s):


Cause of death:  


Circumstances:   

Inquest:   


Indictment:  


Term of court: 


Court proceedings:  

Legal records:  
Newspapers:
Other sources:  
Census:  
Genealogy:  

Suspect:  



Ethnicity:



Race:




Gender:



Age:




Phys char:



Literate:



Marital Status:  


Children:



Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:



Organizations:



Personal history:  


Victim:  



Ethnicity:



Race:




Gender:



Age:




Phys char:



Literate:



Marital Status:  


Children:



Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:



Organizations:



Personal history:  


1798, Oct.




near Vergennes, ADD

P

Class:   do not count

Crime:   FALSE REPORT OF HOMICIDE

Rela:    

Motive:  

Intox?:  

Day of week:


Holiday?:



Time of day:


Days to death:  


SUSPECT(s):
Gen. Fletcher

VICTIM(s):
unk. man (a supporter of Matthew Lyon)


Weapon:  


Circumstances:  


Inquest:  


Indictment:  


Term:  


Court proceedings:  
Legal records:  

Newspaper:  

Vermont Gazette 1798:  11/23:  HOAX / ANOTHER FALSE HOMICIDE STORY in VT:  dtl Greenfield, MA, 10/20:  informed by gentleman fr. VT, that Gen. Fletcher (Sheriff of Windham Co) on his way to Vergennes, the seat of govt, attacked on the west side of the mountain "by a party of Lyon's deluded wretches, who attempted to dismout his federal badge; but being armed with a well loaded hunting whip, he resolved to defend himself, for which purpose he aimed a stroke at one of them, which killed him on the spot.--The General has surrendered himself for trial.


We have seen this falsehood to (sic) often repeated, in different papers, without any contradiction from Greenfield (where its falsity must have been known soon after its first publication) that impudence would blush, did not the whole plan of aristocracy appear to be, to blacken every thing appertaining to republicanism; to misrepresent, traduce, and revile every friend to liberty, and to stick at no lie to carry their points, to favor office hunters and oppress the people."

Census:  

Genealogy:

Accused:  

Gen. Fletcher

Ethnicity:



Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:

sheriff of Windham Co.

Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim:  

___

Ethnicity:



Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:


Children:




Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1798, Nov.




Pawlet, RUT

P


DATE:  W evening last week from 11/30

Class:   certain

Crime:   HOM MANSL

Rela:    TAVERN CUSTOMER by CUSTOMER / fellow EMPLOYEE by fellow EMPLOYEE

Motive:  HONOR / INSULT
Intox?:  yes, victim drunk

Day of week:
W

Holiday?:

n

Time of day:
evening

Days to death:  5


SUSPECT(s):
___ Barney

VICTIM(s):
___ Rice


Weapon:  fists, blows


Circumstances:  at the "house" (tavern) of Col. Averill.  Victim provoked the assault


Inquest:  


Indictment:  no, bill not found for murder.  Self-defense.


Term:  


Court proceedings:  
Legal records:  

Newspaper:  


VG 1798:  Vermont Gazette, 11/30/1798:  HOM / MANSLAUGHTER in VT:  Pawlet, W evening last week, dispute arose at house of Col. Averil between two of his hired men, Rice & Barney, which terminated in blows.  Rice so badly hurt as to die the Sat following.  Supposed "that the unhappy sufferer was a little intoxicated, which occasioned him to insult his antagonist, and provoke his fate."


VG 1798:  Dover Gazette (New Hampshire) 12/19/1798:  dtl Brattleboro, 12/4:  Pawlet, Rutland Co., VT:  at a tavern, affray between Mr. James Barney of Halifax & a Mr. Rice (son of Barzilla Rice, who was formerly dep. sheriff of Windham Co.).  "It seems, that after spending part of the evening in drinking, Mr. Barney, for some reason, made use of irritating language; Mr. Rice conceiving himself insulted, violently assaulted him with his fist; Mr. B. suffered this beating some time, only defending himself; then began beating in his turn . . . .  Mr. B. here continued his strokes, on the head and different parts of the body of the other, until he had bruised him to a jelly!  Mr. Rice lived about 4 hours in extreme agony, and then expired."

Other sources:  

nothing in Hemenway or town history

Census:  


1790C:  no Barneys or Rices


1800C:  no Barneys


Aaron Rice  M  26  F  0,16


Elisha Averill  M  0,0,16,45  F  0,0,10,10,16,26

Genealogy:


Gen. Elisha Averill:  moved from New Milford, CT, in 1787.  Prominent.  Moved in 1803 to New York state.  d. 1821 (age 67).

Accused:  

James Barney 

Ethnicity:

[nb English]

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:

farm laborer for Col. Averill

Town:


Pawlet; formerly of Halifax

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim:  

___ Rice

Ethnicity:

[nb English]

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:


Children:




Occupation:

farm laborer for Col. Averill

Town:


Pawlet

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1800, Apr. 3




Milton, CHI

P


NOTE:  copied to child homicide file

Class:   probable

Crime:   HOM & AIK / ATT FAMILICIDE:  1 adult, 1 child

Rela:   RELATIVE HUSBAND, RELATIVE CHILD (her stepdaughter), HHLD SERVANT

Motive:  [MENTAL ILLNESS]

Intox?:  [no]

Day of week:


Holiday?:



Time of day:


Days to death:  0


SUSPECT(s):
Mrs. [Samuel H.] Holgate

VICTIM(s):
Orrora Holgate (her stepdaughter) and an unknown woman (her domestic servant); aik on Mr. Samuel H. Holgate (her husband), aik on ___ Holgate (her child)


Weapon:  fire; arson


Circumstances:  at her house, which was connected to an adjacent store


Inquest:  verdict:  willful murder


Indictment:  


Term:  


Court proceedings:  none

Legal records:  

Newspaper:  


Farmer's Museum (Walpole, New Hampshire), 5/5/1800 (dtln Vergennes, 4/16):  in Milton on 4/3:  house of Mr. Holgate burned, and a maid who lived with the family & one of his children perished.  Jury of inquest:  willful murder.  The day before, a "controversy" between Mr. Holgate & his wife, she "having secreted his books and papers."  She in consequence "threatened to burn the house and him with it."


Awakened by fire in the dead of night.  Mr. Holgate could not rescue one of his children; he and another child were considerably burned.  "In the meantime a man who slept in the store, which adjoined the house," tried to flee the fire, but he could not open the door, so he ran to a window and "found Mrs. Holgate in her usual dress, walking the room, who had given no alarm, notwithstanding the next room in the house was wrapped in flames; he instantly burst the window, threw her out, and lept out himself."


Inquest the next day:  Mrs. Holgate blamed the maid, "who, she said, stuck a candle against the ceiling with a fork and left it burning."  But a neighbor contradicted her, "who came to assist, that knowing the room in which the maid slept, just as the roof of the house was falling in, he ran to a window in the room to alarm her, and at that time the room was not on fire, but filled with smoke, he heard cries but could not relieve her."

Census:  

1800C:  Milton, CHI.

Asa H.  M 45 // F 45   [Vermont Vital Records: reel #-131:  prob. married to Martha, who d. 4/2/1810 in Essex, age 73, wife of Asa]

Samuel H.  M 0,0,0,26  F 16

Genealogy:

Vermont Vital Records: reel #-131:  Ozias Holgate, k. instantly at the raising of a mill in Milton, 3/16/1813, age (18: 8: 165).  CAS BLDG.

Vermont Vital Records: reel #-131:  Orrora Holgate (9), daughter of Samuel, d. 4/2/1800 in Milton.  Burned to death in her father's house.

Accused:  

Mrs. [Samuel H.] Holgate 

Ethnicity:

[nb English]

Race:


w

Gender:

f

Age:


[21]

Literate:

yes

Marital Status:  
m. Samuel H.

Children:

[3 ch.]

Occupation:

housewife

[hhld]

Town:


Milton

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim 1:  

Orrora Holgate 

Ethnicity:

[nb English]

Race:


w

Gender:

f

Age:


9

Literate:




Marital Status:

s

Children:

n

Occupation:



Town:


Milton

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim 2:  

unknown woman 

Ethnicity:



Race:


w

Gender:

f

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:


Children:




Occupation:

domestic servant of Samuel H. Holgate

Town:


Milton

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim 3:  

Samuel H. Holgate

Ethnicity:

[nb English]

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


[35]

Literate:

yes

Marital Status:

m.

Children:

[3 ch.]

Occupation:




[hhld]

Town:


Milton

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim 4:  

___ Holgate

Ethnicity:



Race:


w

Gender:




Age:


child

Literate:




Marital Status:

s

Children:

n


Occupation:



Town:


Milton

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1802, Aug. 8




Bennington, BEN

CT

P

HIST

Class:   certain

Crime:   HOM

Rela:    WORK EMPLOYEE by FELLOW EMPLOYEES

Motive:  [QUARREL]

Intox?:  

Day of week:
Sun

Holiday?:



Time of day:


Days to death:  1


SUSPECT(s):
George Tibbets and George Whitney

VICTIM(s):
Stephen Gordon


Weapon:  affray, beaten.  d. 8/9.  Skull frac. in several places, trepanning by Dr, Porter of Williamstown was attempted, but without success.


Circumstances:  on the farm of Roswell Moseley, 1 mi. s. of the meeting house at Bennington Center.  Several men harvesting grain.


Inquest:  


Indictment:  yes, both for murder.  


Term:  11/1802


Court proceedings:  pNG.  both fG of mansl.  Both:  $400f, 3 mo., & $500 bond for 10 yrs for good behavior.

Legal records:  


Journal of the General Assembly of Vermont, 1803:  219

Newspaper:  


Vermont Gazette, 8/16/1802:  MANSLAUGHTER:  Sun afternoon last, Bennington, affray house of Roswell Moseley, 1.25 mi fr center of town.  Stephen Gordon (28 or 30, "short thick set man . . . a dark Canadian, or Indian complexion"), a transient fr. Scaticoke, supposed to be an Indian or Canadian, badly bruised, d. T morning following.  A physician, Dr. Porter of Williamstown, had performed trepanning on his skull.  Several fractures discovered & coagulated blood on the brain, which prob. caused his death.


Two young men, Geo. Tibbets of Pownal & Geo. Whitney of Stamford, jailed for the assault.  [11/8:  each had "aged parents" & many relatives & friends in town.]


Ed. -- won't publish details at present, "that the public mind may remain as free from bias as possible, and the unhappy respondents obtain a candid and impartial trial."


Funeral on Wednesday:  Tibbetts "in pathetic terms warned the assembled audience, young and old, against the evil tendency of Sabbath breaking, as exemplified in their unhappy situation; to avoid little bickerings and idle trifling, as leading on to quarrelling, to fighting, and to death, as in the present affecting instance."


Ed.  "But a few days have elapsed, since the inhabitants of Bennington could say, that the crimes of suicide and murder never existed among them.  [WRONG!]  The scene is now dreadfully reversed; in a cood and deliberate manner, the mother of a family in this town has taken an affecting leave of her infant offspring, addressed a farewell line to her absent husband, and precipitated herself into eternity; and two young men, of hitherto irreproachable manners, according to common report, are imprisoned among us for killing a fellow creature, the degree of attrocity of which act a solemn trial must eventually decide, and on that decision rests their fate for time.



Fellow citizens, there is a moral and a natural cause for these things . . . the moral cause is the declension of religion, the natural cause the prevalence of folly, and the introduction of frivolous amusements, gambling, and intemperance. . . .  A billiard table, until within a short time past, was as unknown in Bennington, as suicide and the slaughter of man by man:  that it may be viewed comparatively degrading is the wish of the editor."  [& DOVER GAZETTE 9/4/1802]


Vermont Gazette 1802:  8/23:  Ed. -- notes that he is only publishing a half sheet this week, because he "deemed it an incumbet duty to permit his sons to attend" the funeral of Gordon & the examination of Tibbits & Whitney.


Vermont Gazette 1802:  11/8:  THE TRIAL:  XEROXED 3: 1 & 2.  fNG of murder, but fG of manslaughter.  Hon. Judge Jacobs then read the statute on murder to the jury, & referred the definition of manslaughter to Judge Tyler, who deduced "from the whole, that if the prisoners were not guilty of the murder of Gordon, they clearly were not guilty of manslaughter in the case, and consequently ought to have been acquitted."


The chief justice allowed the statements of the associate justices to have their effect & then asked the jury to reconsider "whether they were guilty of manslaughter, or not guilty."  1/2 hr later the jury returned & stood by its verdict.  Each sentenced to 3 mo., $400f, & costs, & $500 bonds for good behavior for ten years.


Farmer's Museum (Walpole), 11/23 & 12/14/1802:  Judge J. Robinson said the common law was from "barbarous times" -- no need to follow it.  Robinson said no malice aforethought proved:  "the threat of the deceased, accompanied with an Indian scalping hoop, &c., was perhaps more likely to excite the passions than any common threat.  His Honor impressed the sentiments of his charge with tears."  After verdict, Justices Tyler & Jacobs sent the jury back to reconsider, but it returned the same verdict.  GREAT SPEECHES, QUOTED AT LENGTH IN THE ARTICLE.


Vermont Gazette 1802:  12/6:  Ed. upset with Stockbridge, MA paper of 11/27, which published a letter fr. Bennington to a friend in Berkshire Co., questioning the justice of the verdict.  Claimed that the prisoners had cut two heavy green cudgels, 2" through, w/ sharp prongs upn them.  But as the trial showed, where the clubs were entered as evidence, the beach club carried by Whitney was scarecely an inch diameter, & the hardhack club of Tibbits, not an inch and a half through the large end.  "The writer in every part deviates so egregiously from the truth, and evinces such venom, that we shall not attend to his statements particularly; they are totally void of foundation in every material point, and evidently malignant in every insinuation.  The jury were worthy and respectable men, but not all of democratic principles by any means; the chief justice gave no opinon in the case on delivering the charge to the jury, neither were any of the writer's assertions corroborated by evidence."



Ed. says he'll print the entire trial, together with the remarks of the associate justices, to let the public judge for itself.


Vermont Gazette, 7/19/1803:  MANSL in VT:  George Tibbits, "one of the unhappily imprudent young men" convicted in death of Stephen Gordon, who sometime since escaped from jail, d. a short time ago of pleurisy in w NY.  "THe ways of Jehovah are in the great deep, but his dealings are just, and his justice immutable."


[COULD of course be a phony story to cover his escape.]

Other sources:  

Isaac Jennings, Memorials of a Century . . . The Early History of Bennington, Vermont (Boston:  Gould and Lincoln, 1869), 356-7.  Excellent on the passions raised by the trial:  Pierrepoint Edwards of Ct. sent for "by the friends of the accused, and is said to have made a most eloquent and masterly defence."  Notes that the judges (Jacobs, Tyler, and Chief Justice Robinson) asked the jury to reconsider, but the jury returned the same verdict.



"Mr. Mosely was a prominent and respectable citizen, a Federalist in politics, and is believed to have taken an interest in the fate of the deceased.  For this reason, or some other, in the then excited state of party feeling, both the judges and jury were charged with being influenced by political bias in allowing the accused to easy an escape.  It does not seem probably that the charge was well founded.  It is more likely there were extenutating circunstances attending the occurrence which deprived it of much of its criminality."

Census:  

1800C:

no Tibbets or Whitney or Gordons in Benn.

Genealogy:

no hist. of Benn. at VHS

Accused 1:  

George Tibbets 

Ethnicity:

[nb English]

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult 
young man

Literate:




Marital Status:  
s

Children:

no

Occupation:

farm laborer

Town:


Pownal

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Accused 2:  

George Whitney 

Ethnicity:

[nb English]

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult
young man

Literate:




Marital Status:  
s

Children:

no

Occupation:

farm laborer

Town:


Stamford

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim:  

Stephen Gordon

Ethnicity:



Race:


Ind

Gender:

m

Age:


29

Literate:




Marital Status:


Children:




Occupation:

farm laborer

Town:


transient; from Canada

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1805, Sept.




Ryegate, CAL

P


NOTE:  the inquest does not mention homicide, so not counted as a case with both a court record and a noncourt record

Class:   probable

Crime:   HOM

Rela:    SPOUSE HUSBAND by WIFE

Motive:  ABUSE [or JUSTIFIED]

Intox?:  yes, the victim was drunk

Day of week:


Holiday?:



Time of day:
evening

Days to death:  1


SUSPECT(s):
___ Maxfield

VICTIM(s):
William Maxfield


Weapon:  beat


Circumstances:  


Inquest:  i.d. 8/31/1805:  by means "wholly unknown" to the jury.


Indictment:  


Term:  


Court proceedings:  none.  Several persons were jailed, pending a hearing.  "the murderers have been jailed."

Legal records:  


Inquest, Cal. Co. Sup. Ct. records, 1: 371.

Newspaper:


Rutland Herald, 9/21/1805 (from Walpole paper).  HOM:  Ryegate, VT:  a Mr. Maxfield, on evening last week, while intoxicated, beat  bruised in a shocking manner by his wife, a late immigrant fr Scotland.  Next morning found dead.  "The murderers have been taken and committed to prison."  [WHY PLURAL MURDERS?]

Census:  


Not listed in the census.

Genealogy:


not in town hist.

Accused:  

___ Maxfield

Ethnicity:

Scotland

Race:


w

Gender:

f

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  
yes

Children:




Occupation:

[housewife]

Town:


Ryegate

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim:  

___ Maxfield

Ethnicity:

Scotland

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:

yes

Children:




Occupation:



Town:


Ryegate

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1806, Oct. 25




(West) Windsor, WDS

P

CT

Class:   certain

Crime:   HOM

Rela:    SPOUSE WIFE by HUSBAND

Motive:  ABUSE

Intox?:  

Day of week:
Sat

Holiday?:



Time of day:


Days to death:  7


SUSPECT(s):
George Lamphier (and Eunice Lamphire, accessory)

VICTIM(s):
Amelia Lamphire (his wife, her daughter-in-law)


Weapon:  d. 11/1.  kicked in back, left side, loins, neck.  Strangled with handkerchief.  Cared for by a physician before her death.


Circumstances:  


Inquest:  


Indictment:  yes, for murder


Term:  8/1807


Court proceedings:  fNG

Legal records:  


Windsor Co. Sup. Ct. 3:  28


Journal of Gen. Assemb., 1807:  288

Newspaper:  


Windsor Post Boy (Vermont) 11/11/1806:  on 11/3, Mrs. Lamphere, wife of George L. of West Windsor, buried.  She died on Sunday.  She was under the care of a physician and was delirious for several days.  Her complaints "were so singular" that violence or poison were suspected.  Her body was disinterred with the permission of relations.  9 doctors concluded that her death came "through the means of injuries received on the side and across the loins."  Inquest:  blows received on the left side and across the back "and that those blows were probably given by George Lamphere, and that his mother was accessory thereto."  Jailed.  //  The victim never told her physician how she was injured.

Census:  

1800C:  Royalton.  George:  23110 10110 00  [prob. not the same person]

1810C:  Royalton 551:  George:  22201 11011

Genealogy:

Vermont Vital Records: reel #-155:  George Lamphere (45:7) d. 10/7/1856 in Woodstock, Vermont Vital Records: reel #-155:  Eunice Lamphear b. in Royalton, 4/3/1800, to George and Delight Lamphear.  [prob. not the same person]

Accused 1:  

George Lamphier 

Ethnicity:

[nb English]

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  
m. Eunice

Children:




Occupation:



Town:


[West] Windsor

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Accused 2:  

Eunice Lamphire

Ethnicity:

[nb English]

Race:


w

Gender:

f

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  
widow of William Ewins of Windsor

Children:




Occupation:

[housewife]

Town:


[West] Windsor

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim:  

Amelia Lamphire

Ethnicity:

[nb English]

Race:


w

Gender:

f

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:

m. to George

Children:




Occupation:



Town:


[West] Windsor

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1808, Aug. 3




Burlington, CHI

P

CT

TRACT

Class:   certain

Crime:   HOM:  3 adults

Rela:    NONDOM REVENUE AGENTS by SMUGGLERS

Motive:  SMUGGLING

Intox?:  [no]

Day of week:
W

Holiday?:



Time of day:


Days to death:  0


SUSPECT(s):
Samuel G. Mott, Cyrus B. Dean, David Sheffield [& accomplices:  Josiah Pease, William Noaks, Slocum Clark, Freeman Mudget, Francis Ledgard, Thomas Ledgard

VICTIM(s):
Jonathan Ormsby, Asa Marsh, and Ellis Drake


Weapon:  gun (wall pein).  SGM:  pulled the trigger & shot JO & AM.  DS:  shot ED.  CBD:  leader of smugglers.


Circumstances:  armed resistance by smugglers to revenue agents.  The assailants were crewmen on the Black Snake, a vessel that smuggled goods to and from Canada during the Jeffersonian embargo.  In 1808, Mott, Dean, and their compatriots opened fire on a revenue cutter that had hailed them on Lake Champlain and followed them up the Onion River.  The smugglers killed three of the cutter's crew, all Vermont militiamen.  Most Vermonters may have opposed the embargo, but few sympathized with smugglers who attacked Vermont's soldiers.  The leaders of Vermont's Republican Party were particularly incensed, because they believed the smugglers were part of a Federalist Party plot to destroy democratic government and betray the nation into the hands of the British.  According to the World, a Republican newspaper in Bennington, "Treason stalks in open day light. . . .  Blood calls for vengeance!"  Eyewitness accounts of the Black Snake affair conflicted, so Dean's fellow smugglers could be convicted only of manslaughter or lesser charges.  Dean, however, was found guilty of murder and executed as a warning those who would harm government officials.  


Inquest:  


Indictment:  yes, all for murder


Term:  8/1808


Court proceedings:  CBD:  pNG.  fG.  DEATH,.  Hanged 11/11/1808.  SGM:  pNG.  fG of mansl.  10 yrs.  Pardoned 10/1817.  DS:  fG of mansl.  10 yrs.  Pardoned 11/1815.  FL:  pNG.  fG of mansl.  10 yrs.  Pardoned 11/1811.  Others pNG.  np

Legal records:  


Chi. Co. Sup. Ct. 1:  335, 366, 368, 370


Journal of the General Assembly of Vermont, 1808:  38

Newspaper:  


Farmer's Cabinet:  8/16/1808:  HOM in VERMONT:  dtl Burlington, 8/5:  W last.  Revenue cutter from the lines, commanded by Lt. Farrington, w/ sergeant & 12 privates, dispatched by Collector of Customs in pursuit of a large batteaux called the Black Snake, owned by persons near the lines, well known as smugglers.  Cutter pursued her up Onion River.  Taken while its crew, armed, stood on the bank of the river & threatened to fire on the lst man to go on board.  Part of the cutter's crew manned the batteaux & started down river.  Got 100 rods when smugglers opened fire, killing Ellis Drake (of the cutter crew) inst.  Shot through head.  Several more shots fired; Lt. ordered his men to steer for shore.


"Scarcely had they landed" when a large gun called a wall piece, about 10' long, carrying 16 oz. balls, fired at them.  Killed Asa Marsh (another of the crew of the cutter), & Jno. Ormsby of Burlington (a bystander, who returning from work happened to be present at the unfortunate moment).  The Lt. also wounded in his left arm & head.  The people of Burlington turned out & apprehended 8 of the smugglers.  INQ VERDICT:  willful murder against 6 of those captured.


Farmer's Cabinet 8/23:  Mott apprehended in Canada.


Farmer's Cabinet 9/13:  trials.  the 8 prisoners:  Samuel J. Mott, Wm Noaks, Slocum Clark, Freeman Mudget, Cyrus B. Dean, Jso. Peas, David Sheffield, & Francis Ledgard.


Farmer's Cabinet 11/29:  EXECUTION OF CYRUS DEAN IN BURLINGTON, VERMONT, 11/11:  "The concourse of people at his execution was very great.  He exhibited no signs of repentance, denying his crime to the last momemnt and appeared almost indifferent to his fate.  Before he swung, he kicked his hat into his grave, spit on his coffin, and pulled his cap over his eyes."


The World (Bennington)  8/8/1808:  HOMICIDE / GREAT RE:  IMMEDIATE CALL FOR REVENGE & BLOOD--RE:  CAPITAL PUNISHMENT:  The Ormsby-Marsh Murders on Onion River:  same story.  Ed. -- "Eight weeks ago we predicted, that such events must soon succeed the treasonable language of the northern federal papers and federal memorials.--The tories of the day are daring and insolent." . . . "Citizens of Vermont.  The best blood of your country has crimsoned the intervales of Burlington!  Treason stalks in open day light!  The blood of Ormsby calls for Vengeance!  CAn you be sleeping, while the blood of Patriots is flowing?  Enquire what is the cause--who are the abettors.  You are not safe in your dwellings.  Awake, and gird on your swords-the day of calamity is near!  Blood calls for Vengeance!  The time is come when the enquiry will be heard, Who is on the Lord's side--who?--Citizens of Vermont, you see what Federalism is producing.  Awake, before it is too late.--Rally round your government.  Drive these men from your confidence:  they are false; their paths are Treason, and Cruelty is in their habitations.  The day of just retributuion is at hand.  Be firm, be united, and you are safe.  Divisions ruin you; they will ruin your country.  If you love your country, show it by your conduct.  Now is the all important moment."



SUPPLEMENT TO THE WORLD:  8/23/1808:  XEROX:  on the murder of Ormsby, Drake, and Marsh.  [in file, not typed in:  READ LATER -- excellent iconography -- coffins, etc.



PICTURE TO USE



NOTE:  A fiercely Republican, pro-Embargo paper.


Vermont Gazette 1808:  9/12:  a notice of the trial and the verdicts.  Only Ormsby and Marsh killed, according to the indictments.  What about Drake?


The World, 1/16/1809:  Supreme Court of Vt commenced session in Burlington on Jan. 3.  "Judge Tyler's speech is said to be very patriotic."  Mott & Mudget fG of mansl by the jury.  [NOTE:  Tyler's loyalties.]


"Pork and grain are constantly smuggled into Canada.  All the speculators of this and the adjoining states are feeding the enemy; all the roads are full of sleighs laden with provisions; it is said 300 go into Canada daily with pork.--Such business will soon be stopped by the act just passed for effectually enforcing the embargo."


THE WORLD, 1/30/1809:  others tried, convicted, & sentenced, except Mudget, whose jury could not agree.  Stands committed for trial at next January term for murder of Ellis Drake.

Other sources:  

"The trial of Cyrus B. Dean, for the murder of Jonathan Ormsby and Asa Marsh." Burlington, VT: Samuel Mills, 1808.  (at the American Antiquarian Society)  McDade #246

Census:  

1800C:

SGM
Alburgh
M 0,10,16,26  F 16

[and the hhld of an older Samuel Mott]

CBD:  none in VT

DS:  no Sheffields in Milton or South Hero; a Charles Sheffield in Burlington (M 0,0,10,26  F 26)

JP:  none in Swanton

WN:  John Nokes in Highgate (M 0,26  F 0,16)

SC:  none in Highgate

FM:  David Mudget (M 0,10,10,16,45  F 10,16,45)

FL & TL:  none

Jonathan Ormsby (Burlington) M 0,0,16,26  F 0,0,10,10,26

ED & AM:  no

Genealogy:

Accused 1:  

Samuel G. Mott

Ethnicity:

[nb English]

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


36
6'

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:



Town:


Alburgh

Birthplace:

b. Clinton, NY

Religion:




Organizations:



Accused 2:  

Cyrus B. Dean

Ethnicity:

[nb English]

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:



Town:


Swanton

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Accused 3:  

David Sheffield 

Ethnicity:

[nb English]

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


18

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:



Town:


Milton

Birthplace:

b. South Hero, VT

Religion:




Organizations:



Accused 4:  

Josiah Pease

Ethnicity:

[nb English]

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:



Town:


Swanton

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Accused 5:  

William Noaks

Ethnicity:

[nb English]

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:



Town:


Highgate, VT

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Accused 6:  

Slocum Clark

Ethnicity:

[nb English]

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:



Town:


Highgate, VT

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Accused 7:  

Freeman Mudget

Ethnicity:

[nb English]

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:



Town:


Highgate, VT

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Accused 8:  

Francis Ledgard

Ethnicity:

[nb English]

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


24

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:



Town:


Highgate, VT

Birthplace:

b. Harrington, CT

Religion:




Organizations:



Accused 9:  

Thomas Ledgard

Ethnicity:

[nb English]

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


24

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:



Town:


Milton

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim 1:  

Jonathan Ormsby

Ethnicity:

[nb English]

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


[43]

Literate:




Marital Status:

[m]

Children:

[yes, several]

Occupation:





[hhld]

Town:


[Burlington]

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim 2:  

Asa Marsh

Ethnicity:

[nb English]

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:


Children:




Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim 3:  

Ellis Drake

Ethnicity:

[nb English]

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:


Children:




Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1811, Nov. 3





Alburgh, GI

P






(Gull Island) 

CT

HIST

Class:   certain

Crime:   HOM

Rela:    NONDOM SMUGGLER by REVENUE AGENTS

Motive:  SMUGGLING

Intox?:  

Day of week:
Sun

Holiday?:



Time of day:
9am

Days to death:  0


SUSPECT(s):
Samuel Buell and John Walker

VICTIM(s):
Harrington Brooks


Weapon:  gun shot [musket], d. inst.


Circumstances:  HB was attempting to escape from the custom house officials with a skiff load of salt.  On his return from St. Johns in Canada, accompanied by Miner Hilliard, & had passed the revenue post of Wind-mill Point.  Pursued by the collector, Samuel Buell, in a boat with John Walker & George Graves as oarsmen.  The came up with BH near two rocky shoals or islets, on so-called Gull Island, lying off the west shore of Alburgh.  "The skiff drew less water than the revenue boat, and Brooks kept in shoal water where Buel could not board him.  The latter demanded surrender, when a parley ensued.  Brooks told the collector that he had only 7 bushels of salt; that it belonged to five different families who wanted to cure their pork; that there was no salt to be had at St. Albans, and that he would pay him the duties if he would accept the same and allow him to proceed.  Buel told him that he should seize the boat and its loading.  Brooks replied that he much catch him first.  He started and kept on rowing around the shore of the islands, keeping his skiff where the water was so shallow that the revenue boat could not reach him."  The chase con't for some time, until SB ordered JW to fire.  "He obeyed, and discharged a load of duck-shot, twelve of which penetrated the breast of the unfortunate man.  He pulled open his shirt and exclaimed, 'See what they have done,' and fell forward dead upon the loading of the boat, covering the salt-bags with his blood."  His boat, with his body, towed to Alburgh shore to a store kept by Alexander Scott.  Inquest, then the body laid out & carried to HB's home.  "A large and excited crowd awaited the arrival of the remains, and theindignation expressed at the course of Buel was severe."  Funeral attended by a large crowd.  Rev. George W. Powers officiated, from Job 14: 1-2.  "The excitement which followed this deplorable event, aggravated by the extreme party virulence which at times prevailed, was very great, and continued for a long time.  Mr. Walker, who fired the fatal shot, although in obedience to his superior officer, was full of distress on account of it.  It threw a cloud of gloom over his entire after life."  He d. at Albany, while a memb. of the legis. of the state of NY, to which he had been elected from Clinton Co. in Jan. 1832.


Inquest:  


Indictment:  no, bnf for murder


Term:  12/1811


Court proceedings:  bound for appearance before grand jury

Legal records:  


Journal of the General Assembly of Vermont, 1812:  23


not in Fra. Co. court records

Newspaper:  


FARMER'S CABINET:  1/20/1812:  Supreme Court of Vermont session at St. Albans, 24th ultimate.  Grand Jury did not find bills against the Collector and his man for the killing of Mr. Brooks.

Other sources:  

L. L. Dutcher, The History of St. Albans, Vt. (St. Albans:  Stephen E. Royce, 1872), 293-4.

Census:  

1810C:  

SB CHI 202 Burlington [prob. him]

M 0,26,45  F 10



SB CHI 226 Essex [prob. not him: still in Essex, 1820C]

M 0,0,10,16,45  F 16,16,16,45

HB FRA 277 St. Albans

M 16,26  F 10,16   no cloth

no John Walker in FRA or CHI

Genealogy:  

Accused 1:  

Samuel Buell 

Ethnicity:

[nb English]

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:

Collector of Revenue

Town:


St. Albans

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Accused 2:  

John Walker 

Ethnicity:



Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:

Asst. Collector of Revenue

Town:


St. Albans

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim:  

Harrington Brooks

Ethnicity:

[nb English]

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


24

Literate:




Marital Status:

m

Children:

2 ch (both daughters)

Occupation:



Town:


St. Albans

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1812, May 12 




Manchester, BEN

P

CT

HIST

TRACT

Class:   probable

Crime:   HOM

Rela:    RELATIVE BROTHER-IN-LAW by BROTHER-IN-LAWS

Motive:  FAMILY QUARREL / INHERITANCE

Intox?:  n

Day of week:


Holiday?:
no
Time of day:
morning

Days to death:  0


SUSPECT(s):
Jesse Boorn and Stephen Boorn

VICTIM(s):
Russell Colvin


Weapon:  RC hit SB with a small stick, and SB then beat RC to death with a tree limb


Circumstances:  The Boorns, ne'er-do-well brothers, were condemned in 1819 for the murder in Manchester of their mentally deranged brother-in-law, Russell Colvin.  Colvin's body had not been found, but the prosecution claimed that the Boorns killed Colvin out of jealousy.  Colvin, along with his wife and children, had been supported by the Boorns' parents and had stood to inherit the bulk of the parents' property.  According to the testimony of Lewis Colvin (Russell's son, who was 10 at the time of the alleged murder), SB accused RC of not pulling his weight on the farm and of ruining SB's father (Barney Boorn) financially because of the cost of support RC & his family.  RC replied that he was a hard worker who had made a valuable contribution to the family income.  SB called him a "damned fool" and a "little Tory."  RC hit SB with a small stick, and SB then beat RC to death with a tree limb.  Lewis then fled to his grandfather's house -- and RC did not return home.  Leewis asked his uncles where RC was, and they answered, "one of them, that he had gone to hell, and the other that they had put him where potatoes would not freeze."  Sally Colvin, who had been out of town at the time, asked her son, Lewis, when she returned, "where Russell was; he answered gone to hell."



Public sentiment ran against the brothers in part because their sister, Colvin's wife Sally, became pregnant by another man soon after her husband's disappearance (indeed, she had two illegitimate daughters after RC's disappearance).  That led the jury to suspect that she had colluded with her brothers to get rid of her husband.  The Boorns, fearing conviction and perhaps hoping for leniency, confessed.  They soon recanted their testimony and professed their innocence.  But the Boorns were convicted at the next term of the county court and sentenced to hang.  They were spared at the last moment when Colvin (or a convincing impersonator of Colvin) miraculously reappeared.  The defense claimed he had simply wandered off in a fit of amnesia some seven years before.  Some Vermonters concluded from this case that the legal system was too flawed to hand down death sentences.  


Inquest:  


Indictment:  yes, JB & SB for murder


Term:  9/1819


Court proceedings:  9/1819t:  JB & SB pNG.  fG.  DEATH.  Pardoned when it appeared that the victim was still alive.

Legal records:  

Newspaper:  


Vermont Gazette 11/9/1819:  Notice of the verdict in the Boorn case.  [11/23:  legis. commuted JB's sentence to life; SB still sentenced to hang.]


Vermont Gazette 12/28/1819:  RUSSELL COLVIN YET LIVES.  Boorns freed.


New Hampshire Patriot (Concord) 1820:  1/11:  LONG ARTICLE ON THE BOORN CASE

Other sources:  

"Trial of Stephen and Jesse Bourn, for the Murder of Russell Colvin." Rutland: Fay and Burt, 1819.  (at American Antiquarian Society)  McDade #114


"Mystery Developed; or, Russell Colvin, (supposed to be murdered,) in full life: and Stephen and Jesse Boorn, (his convicted murderers,) rescued from ignominious death by wonderful discoveries." Hartford, CT: pub. by William S. Marsh, R. Storrs, printer, 1820.  (at American Antiquarian Society)  McDade #111


"Sketches of the trial of Stephen and Jesse Boorn, for the murder of Russell Colvin." Boston, MA: Nathaniel Coverly, 1820.  (at the New York Public Library, New York City)  McDade #112


Leonard Sargeant, "The Trial, Confessions, and Conviction of Jesse and Stephen Bourn, for the Murder of Russell Colvin." Manchester: Journal Book and Job Office, 1873.  (at American Antiquarian Society)  McDade #113


John Spargo, The Return of Russell Colvin. Bennington: Bennington Historical Museum and Art Gallery, 1945.


Gerald McFarland, The Counterfeit Man:  The True Story of the Boorn-Colvin Murder Case. New York: Pantheon, 1990.

Census:  

1810C:  no Colvins in Manchester

John Born

BEN 097 Manch.

M 0,16  F 0,16,45



19:0:50

Jerward Boone
BEN 097 Manch.

M 16  F 16




0:0:40

Barnet Boone
BEN 097 Manch.

M 0,16,45  F 0,45



30:0:40

Steven Boone
BEN 097 Manch.

M 0,0,10,26  F 0,0,0,10,10,26

50:0:50

Serwood Boon
BEN 099 Manch. [2 entries in index:  can't find the other on p. 99 or 99A]

M 45  F 45,45




0:0:0

1820C:  Boons in Manch.

Jerred 
138



Amos

136



Barney

138



John

138



Stephen
139



Wm

136

Genealogy:


RC:  son of Richard and Rosanna Colvin, who had owned a small farm in Manchester.  Richard abandoned the family in 1798 or 1799 and left for Rhode Island.  RC had 4 brothers & sisters, but only one, Clarrisa Ferguson.


SB & JB:  sons of Barney and Elizabeth [Lewis] Boorn.  SB:  b. 1788.  JB:  b. 1792

Accused 1:  

Jesse Boorn 

Ethnicity:

[nb English]

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


19

Literate:




Marital Status:  
s

Children:

n

Occupation:

farm laborer

Town:


Manchester

Birthplace:

Manchester

Religion:

[raised as a Baptist]

Organizations:



Accused 2:  

Stephen Boorn 

Ethnicity:

[nb English]

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


23

Literate:




Marital Status:  
s

Children:

n

Occupation:

farm laborer

Town:


Manchester

Birthplace:

Manchester

Religion:

[raised as a Baptist]

Organizations:



Victim:  

Russell Colvin

Ethnicity:

[nb English]

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


[35]

Literate:




Marital Status:

m. to Sally [Boorn]

Children:

6 ch.  Oldest:  Lewis, b. 1/1802

Occupation:

farm laborer

Town:


Manchester

Birthplace:

Manchester

Religion:




Organizations:



1812, May 20




Barnet, CAL

CT

INQ

Class:   do not count as hom, but count as aik

Crime:   CAS DRO

Rela:    

Motive:  

Intox?:  yes, victim

Day of week:
W

Holiday?:



Time of day:
0


SUSPECT(s):
William Adams

VICTIM(s):
Samuel Prouty


Weapon:  beating, clubs & fists, head & breast


Circumstances:  


Inquest:  inquest:  "by being urged to drink by William Adams till he was intoxicated - then bruised very much by said Adams and in that situation attempting to cross the stream fell in and was drowned."  SP had no weapon and did not start the fight.


Indictment:  no, bnf for murder


Term:  8/1812


Court proceedings:  
Legal records:  


Cal. Co. file:  inquest


Journal of the General Assembly of Vermont, 1812:  24

Newspaper:  

Census:  

1810C:

WA:  CAL 146 Barnet

M 0,0,45  F 0,26

SP:  no Proutys in Cal. Co.



Genealogy:

Accused:  

William Adams 

Ethnicity:



Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


[57]

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:



Town:


Barnet

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim:  

Samuel Prouty

Ethnicity:



Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:


Children:




Occupation:



Town:


Barnet

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1812, Sept. 8




Hubbardton, RUT

P

Class:   certain

Crime:   HOM MANSL / AIK

Rela:    NONDOM REVENUE AGENT by SMUGGLERS

Motive:  SMUGGLING

Intox?:  

Day of week:


Holiday?:



Time of day:
night

Days to death:  6


SUSPECT(s):
Lyman Holley [aka Hawley] (aided and abetted by James Douglas, John Hutchins, Joseph Almy, Zachariah Benedict, Lyman Painter, Hiram Painter, John Childs, Seth Bond, Nathan Roe, Alexander Campbell, Isaac Bishop, William Gleason)

VICTIM(s):
Joel Luce (and aik. on Walker Rumsay)

Weapon:  club (a "loaded whip") to right side of head (the club was held by Lyman Holley).  d. 9/14.  WR was assaulted and battered.


Circumstances:  at a tollgate on a toll road


Inquest:  


Indictment:  yes, murder


Term:  3/1813


Court proceedings:  LH:  arrested and held without bail.  np.  JD:  np.  JH:  np.  JA:  escaped.  ZB:  $2000 bond.  Alexander Campbell:  $1000 bond.  2/1814t:  all np.  Witnesses:  bonded for $2000 each:  Daniel Rumsey, Jr., Walker Rumsey, Oliver Foster, Justus Wright.

Legal records:  


Rut. Co. Sup. Ct. files, 2/1814t:  folder 322, files 7, 11, 12, 13, 14


Rut. Co. Sup. Ct. files, 3/1813t:  folder 317, files 11, 12, 13

Newspaper:  


Green Mountain Farmer:  10/7/1812:  HOM in VT:  fr. Rutland Herald:  night of 7th. inst [9/7] in Hubbardton, VT.  Joel Luce, who kept the turnpike gate, murdered.  Appears that smugglers had collected 7 wagons loaded w' goods, some of which contained several men & 8 to 10 men on horseback, all armed w/ swords, pistols, & clubs.  1am "proceeded down the turnpike in battle array."  Discovered before they reached the gate--W. Rumsey, a deputy collector under Mr. Buel (who lived nearby), was alerted.  R "immediately collected what assistance he could and took a stand above the gate."  R demanded the right to search the wagons for smuggled goods.  


They said he might make a search, but he would find no smuggled goods.--He made an attempt to step into the foremost waggon, when two men rose up, who were before concealed, and with clubs knocked him off the waggon; and several of the horsemen riding up at the same time, threatened to blow out his brains if he did not desist & let them pass.  He then hastened to the gate, and found two or three of the waggons had passed, the gate being then open, and the deceased demanding the toll.  Mr. R shut the gate and requested the deceas'd to assist him in stopping the smugglers.  The deceased did not however assist but appeared to have been hurt.  A man then on foot struck the deceased several times with a club, who cried out; and several of the banditti at the same time told him if he did not immediately open the gate they would blow out his brains; one of the men on horseback also struck him.  A pistol was presented and snapped.  The whole gang, in the most violent, blasphemous and outrageous manner threatned (sic) every one with instant death who should oppose them.  The deceased offered no violence to any one of the company during the contest.  After the waggons had all passed, two men came back and said they believed Luce was not yet dead, and they said, "we had better go into the house and give him a little lead."  They however immediatdly (sic) made off."


d. of his wounds on 9/14.  Several of the company arrested.  Northern Centinel:  reports several arrests.  Unknown whether Lyman Holley, "who gave Mr. Luce the fatal blow," was taken or not.

Census:  

1810C:  no Lyman Holley in ADD, but many Holleys in Add. Co.

Joel Luce  RUT 128 Hubbardton

M 0,26  F 0,16

(8 sheep, 6 yrds woolen cloth, 40 yrds linen cloth) 

Genealogy:

Accused 1:  

Lyman Holley [aka Hawley]

Ethnicity:

[nb English]

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:



Town:


Middlebury

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Accused 2:  

James Douglas

Ethnicity:

[nb English]

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:



Town:


Middlebury

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Accused 3:  

John Hutchins

Ethnicity:

[nb English]

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:



Town:


Middlebury

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Accused 4:  

Joseph Almy

Ethnicity:

[nb English]

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:



Town:


Waltham

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Accused 5:  

Zachariah Benedict

Ethnicity:

[nb English]

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:



Town:


Cornwall

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Accused 6:  

Lyman Painter

Ethnicity:

[nb English

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:



Town:


Vergennes

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Accused 7:  

Hiram Painter

Ethnicity:

[nb English]

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:



Town:


Vergennes

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Accused 8:  

John Childs

Ethnicity:

[nb English]

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:



Town:


Brandon

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Accused 9:  

Seth Bond

Ethnicity:

[nb English]

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:



Town:


Pawlet

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Accused 10:  

Nathan Roe

Ethnicity:

[nb English]

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:



Town:


Weybridge

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Accused 11:  

Alexander Campbell

Ethnicity:

[nb English]

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:



Town:


Middlebury

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Accused 12:  

Isaac Bishop

Ethnicity:

[nb English]

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:



Town:


Granville, NY

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Accused 13:  

William Gleason

Ethnicity:

[nb English]

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:



Town:


transient, formerly of Albany, NY

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim 1:  

Joel Luce

Ethnicity:

[nb English]

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


[30]

Literate:




Marital Status:

[m]

Children:

[yes, several]

Occupation:

farmer, tollgate keeper

hhld

Town:


Hubbardton

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim 2:  

Walker Rumsay

Ethnicity:

[nb English]

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:


Children:




Occupation:



Town:


Hubbardton

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1813, July




Colchester (Point), CHI

P

Class:   probable

Crime:   HOM

Rela:    POLITICAL SPY by SENTRY

Motive:  SELF-DEFENSE
Intox?:  

Day of week:
F

Holiday?:



Time of day:
1am

Days to death:  0


SUSPECT(s):
unk. American soldier

VICTIM(s):
unk. person (presumed spy)


Weapon:  gun [musket]


Circumstances:  U.S. Army camp


Inquest:  


Indictment:  


Term:  


Court proceedings:  
Legal records:  

Newspaper:  


Green Mountain Freeman, 7/17/1813:  HOMICIDE / SMUGGLING or WAR:


ed. of GMF doubts report of Albany Argus that a sergeant & 12 or 14 men were surprised & taken by the British at Colchester Point, near Burlington.  Burlington paper of the 9th says nothing about the incident, "on which account we doubt its authenticity."


Ed. of GMF informed by a gentleman "direct from Burlington" that the above account is unfounded, and that another incident may have given rise to the rumor.


At Colchester Point, 1am F, the advance sentry of the picket guard saw a man whom he hailed "and from whom obtaining no answer to his call, he fired, on which the picket guard turned out and received five shot, without injury, and the guard gave a fire in return."  Alarm given, troops & flotilla prepared for action.  M following, "the body of a man was found in a thicket on the point, who being mortally wounded had crept there and expired.  On examination his face and hands were found to have been painted."

Census:  

Genealogy:

nothing in town hist. at VHS

Accused:  

unk. soldier

Ethnicity:



Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:

picket guard / sentry

Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim:  

unk. person

Ethnicity:



Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:


Children:




Occupation:

presumed British spy

Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1813, Sept. 4




Franklin, FRA

P

CT

Class:   certain

Crime:   HOM

Rela:    POLITICAL SMUGGLER by AGENTS
Motive:  SMUGGLING / JUSTIFIED / IO / RESISTING ARREST

Intox?:  

Day of week:
Sat

Holiday?:



Time of day:


Days to death:  0


SUSPECT(s):
Samuel Peckham and Augustus C. Wright

VICTIM(s):
John Smith


Weapon:  musket ball to heart


Circumstances:  From the Mirror:  the victim was travelling through town in the center of a highway, heading south from Canada to Fairfield.  The assailants were customs officials, who suspected that JS (and one or two other men who had accompanied him) had driven cattle to Canada.  They confronted JS when he returned and accused him of smuggling.  An armed confrontation and "contest" enused, in which JS was shot.


Inquest:  


Indictment:  yes, SP for murder, ACW for mansl.


Term:  _/____


Court proceedings:  Both pNG.  6/1816t:  SP:  con't.  ACW:  n.p.

Legal records:  


Fra. Co. Sup. Ct.  3:  94


Journal of the Gen. Assembly 1815: 199

Newspaper:  


Vermont Mirror (Middlebury), 9/15/1813

Census:  

1810C:  no ACW

SP Sr.:  Huntsburg 268 FRA:  M  16,16,26,45  F 45

SP Jr.:  Huntsburg 268 FRA:  M  26  F  0,0,0,26

Many Wrights in Huntsburg:

Gardner:      FRA:  M  10,10,16,45  F  0,0,0,10,26

Jehiel:   267 FRA:  

William:  268 FRA:  M  0,0,0,0,0,10,45  F  0,0,45

Giles:    269 FRA:  

JS:  Fairfield 305 FRA:  M 0,0,26 F 0,16,16,26 (cloth 80 50)

Genealogy:

Accused 1:  

Samuel Peckham [Sr.]

Ethnicity:

[nb English]

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


[58]

Literate:




Marital Status:  
m

Children:

y

Occupation:

deputy customs house officer; hhld

Town:


Franklin or Huntsburg

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Accused 2:  

Augustus C. Wright 

Ethnicity:

[nb English]

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  
[s]

Children:

[n]

Occupation:

asst. deputy customs house officer; no hhld.

Town:


Franklin or Huntsburg

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim:  

John Smith

Ethnicity:

[nb English]

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:


Children:




Occupation:



hhld; a "respected citizen"

Town:


Fairfield

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1813, Oct. 9




Canaan, ESS

P

CT

Class:   certain

Crime:   HOM

Rela:    NONDOM unclear [prob. AGENT by SMUGGLERS]
Motive: [the inquest says that JD resisted the ATTACHMENT of his PROPERTY; the newspaper says that the victim failed to follow COMMAND of a j.p. -- and it may be that neither story was accurate and that accusations of smuggling were involved and that no one told the truth, given that justices of the peace were involved on both sides of the dispute]  / prob. SMUGGLING ENFORCEMENT or CONTROVERSY

Intox?:  

Day of week:
Sat

Holiday?:



Time of day:


Days to death:  0


SUSPECT(s):
John Dennet (aided and abetted by Micajah Ingham, John Morrison, Joshua Morrison, and Thomas Todd)

VICTIM(s):
Samuel Beech, Esq.


Weapon:  musket shot to breast


Circumstances:  at the house of Micajah Ingham.  According to the inquest in the Cal. Co. files, Samuel Beech tried, together with Heman Beech (his younger brother), to take legal possession of John Dennet's cattle.  JD told SB that "he would blow him through" if he tried.  SB persisted, so JD shot him dead.  //  the newspaper account is quite different.


Inquest:  yes


Indictment:  JD ind. for murder (deceased before trial -- he was murdered in July 1814).  JM:  bnf for murder.  MI, John M, Joshua M, TT:  ind. for aiding and abetting the murder.  


Term:  _/_


Court proceedings:  6/1815t:  MI & John Morrison:  pNG.  fNG.  Joshua M & TT:  n.p.

Legal records:  


Cal. Co. Sup. Ct.  3:  271


Cal. Co. Files:  inquest.  


Journal of General Assembly, 1814:  40

Newspaper:  


FARMER'S CABINET:  11/27/1813:  HOM in VT:  Canaan, VT, 9th inst., Samuel Beach, Esq., wantonly shot by one Danner, to whom he had been a friend and patron.  Jailed.  Trial pending.


DOVER SUN 11/20/1813:  from Concord Gazette:  d. Sat, 10/9, at Canaan, Vt.  Samuel Beach, Esq., "wantonly shot dead, by one Dennett, of the same town . . . .  Mr. Beach and a younger brother owned land just within the bounds of Canada, being three or four miles from where they lived. --  From a Judge Ingham of Canaan, who was an officer authorized by that state, to give permission to cross the line, they obtained leave to go there with their oxen, for the purpose of completing a Mill-Dam, which they had commenced sometime before.  They had worked there but a few days, when Ingham, in the presence of Dennett, told young Mr. Beach, that they must stay no longer on the leave he had given . . . .  Dennett ordered young Mr. Beach, who was forward and on horseback, to stop.  He replied that he had a right to pass the road and should not be stopped forcibly.  The deceased, after talking for a short time with Dennett, took a small whip from his brother's hand, and turned his oxen to drive them home . . . when Dennett fired and shot him through the heart!"

Census:  

1810C:  

SB:  Cannan 239 ESS:  M  0,0,0,16,26  F  0,10,10,10,16,26

JD:  Canaan 239 ESS:  M  0,16,26  F  0,0,0,16,26

MI:  none, but an Oliver Ingham:  Canaan 239 ESS



M  0,10,16,16,26  F  10,26

JM & JM:  none, but Alexander Morrison Sr. & Jr.:  Canaan 239 ESS:

AM Sr.:  M  16,16,45  F  10,10,45

AM Jr.:  M  26  F  16

Genealogy:

Accused 1:  

John Dennet 

Ethnicity:

[nb English]

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


[38]

Literate:




Marital Status:  
m

Children:

y

Occupation:


hhld

Town:


Canaan

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Accused 2:  

Micajah Ingham

Ethnicity:

[nb English]

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


[24]

Literate:




Marital Status:  
[s]

Children:

[n]

Occupation:


no hhld

Town:


Canaan

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Accused 3:  

John Morrison

Ethnicity:

[nb English]

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  
[s]

Children:

[n]

Occupation:


no hhld

Town:


Canaan

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Accused 4:  

Joshua Morrison

Ethnicity:

[nb English]

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  
[s]

Children:

[n]

Occupation:


no hhld

Town:


Canaan

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Accused 5:  

Thomas Todd

Ethnicity:

[nb English]

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:



Town:


Canaan

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim:  

Samuel Beech, Esq.

Ethnicity:

[nb English]

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


[38]

Literate:




Marital Status:

m

Children:

y

Occupation:


hhld

Town:


Canaan

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:

justice of the peace

1813, Nov. 3




St. Albans, FRA

P
[or Nov. 4 -- town hist.]

CT

HIST

Class:   certain

Crime:   HOM

Rela:    POLITICAL DESERTER (VT MILITIA MEMBER)  by U.S. ARMY SOLDIER
Motive:  RESISTANCE to SERVICE in NATIONAL ARMY

Intox?:  no

Day of week:


Holiday?:



Time of day:
8pm

Days to death:  5


SUSPECT(s):
Alvah Sabins

VICTIM(s):
Silas Gates


Weapon:  rifle shot from 25 rods, d. 11/8 (a "few days" [5 days & 5 hours] after he was shot).  "the ball entering just above the hip bone [near the spine], and passing through in an oblique direction, cut the intestines, &c."


Circumstances:  near the house of John Gates.  SG was called out and put under Col. Fassett of the U.S. Army.  SG protested.  He went home saying that he had been detained illegally.  A party was sent to seize him.


Inquest:  i.d. 11/8:  verdict:  murder.


Indictment:  yes, for murder


Term:  12/1813


Court proceedings:  pNG.  Hung jury [3 for acq. & 9 for conviction for mansl].  con't.  12/1814t:  hung jury [9 for acq., 3 for convic. for mansl].  con't.  12/1815t:  np

Legal records:  


Fra. Co. Sup. Ct. 3:  94  (inquest)


Journal of the General Assembly of Vermont, 1814:  35; 1815:  199

Newspaper: 


Vermont (Middlebury) Mirror, 11/24/1813:  SG "respectable character, education, and connections."


FARMER'S CABINET:  12/4/1813:  HOM in VT:  St. Albans, 8th inst.  Silas Gates, son to Capt. John Gates of St. A.


"on the 3d inst. two men of the Vermont militia stationed at Cumberland-head were sent over to St. Albans, to bring back young Gates, and others (who had been furloughed) if they could by fair means.  On their arrival at his father's house they tried to persuade young Gates to return with them, but not wishing to continue with them, he feigned an excuse



[town history:  SG agreed to accompany the two men who came for him, but had proceeded only a short distance with them when SG went back for something he "said he had forgotten, but, instead of returning, he raised a window through which he passed, and started off on a run through an orchard on the north side of the house"]


to go into another room, from a window of which he descended and had got but a few steps from the house when they mistrusting his intentions, mounted their horses, and on discovering him, [town history:  called on him twice to stop] one of them took deliberate aim with a rifle, and shot him down, the ball entering just above the hip bone, and passing through in an oblique directino, cut the intestines, &c.  He languished until the 8th, when he died.  The verdict of the jury was Wilful Murder--and the man who shot him ws confined for trial.  Young Gates had recently gone through a course of studies for the purpose of entering Harvard University, and was amiable and promising; To his parents and their adopted duaghter his untiely death is peculiarly afflictive."

Other sources:  

L. L. Dutcher, The History of St. Albans, Vt. (St. Albans:  Stephen E. Royce, 1872), 294-5.  The third brigade of the third division of the Vt. militia (which included the entire co. of Franklin) was called into service en masse & marched out of state to Champlain, NY, leaving the Vt frontier defenseless for 40 mi.  An act "severely censured by all parties. . . .  why were those troops not taken from counties lying remote from the frontier?  Why invite an invasion from Canada?"  Many soldiers, eager to return to the harvest & to protect their homes, "quietly slipped away from camp without leave."  Only a few over 300 were left in camp.  //



After SG's death, "Political feeling ran high, and the opponents of the government and the war seemed carried away by a spirit of fierce and vindictive wrath.  They would have sacrified Sabin at once, but the supporters of the administration and the war promptly rallied to his support and entered upon his defense." . . .  The case nol. pros. at 12/1815t:  "People of all parties, including relatives of the deceased, came at length to the conclusion that Mr. Sabin should be acquitted of all blame."  A young, inexperienced soldier, who "supposed it to be his duty to fire."  A cloudy evening, SG running through thick apple trees, an unfortuate shot at 25 rods.  "Probably no one ever regretted this melancholy affair more than Mr. Sabin."  After this, became a Bapt. preacher in Georgia, VT, elected to Gen. Ass. of Vt. for several yrs.  Afterwards elected state senator from Franklin Co., judge of the county court, sec. of state of VT, & 2 elections to House of Rep. of U.S.

Census:  

1810C & 1820C:  

no Gates in St. Albans

no Sabins in Georgia

Genealogy:

Accused:  

Alvah Sabins

Ethnicity:

[nb English]

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


20

Literate:




Marital Status:  
s

Children:

no

Occupation:

rifleman of Col. Clark in U.S. Army

Town:


Georgia, VT

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim:  

Silas Gates

Ethnicity:

[nb English]

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


19

Literate:

yes
enrolled at Harvard College

Marital Status:

s

Children:

no

Occupation:

student / memb. of Vt. militia

Town:


St. Albans

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



[1813/1814]




Champlain [FRA]

TRACT

Class:   uncertain

Crime:   HOM:  count three adults as uncertain
Rela:    NONDOM

Motive:  UNK

Intox?:  

Day of week:


Holiday?:



Time of day:


Days to death:  


SUSPECT(s):
unknown soldiers from New Hampshire

VICTIM(s):
three or four Indian women


Weapon:  


Circumstances:  at a gambling house where soldiers congregated


Inquest:  


Court proceedings:  
Legal records:  

Newspaper:  

Other sources:  
Green, Samuel (1822) Life of Samuel Green, Executed at Boston, April 25, 1822, for the Murder of Billy Williams, a Fellow Convict with Green in the State Prison.  Boston: David Felt. (at New York Historical Society)  47 pp.

9:  HOM NONDOM INDIAN WOMEN by SOLDIERS probably 1813:  During the War of 1812, while Samuel Green and his friend A. were serving as fifer and drummer for Captain Mason’s regiment from Strafford County, NH:  “On our arrival at Burlington, we messed with four others, furnished the whole mess with every thing they wanted, and were half drunk all the time.  The Captain placed us under guard every day, to keep us sober, or he would have been obliged to drill without music—he  saved us from many a flogging.  From here we went to Champlain, where we remained a short time, living the same way, and in addition went each night, half drunk, to a gambling house, in which we lost about three hundred dollars, half good and half passed money; the bad bills were one’s altered to five’s and ten’s, and passed as readily as any other.  We were here under guard most of the time for intoxication, but could always make some kind of music, though oftentimes very discordant.  Three or four squaws were killed; the company marched back to Burlington, was joined to another, and half the officers discharged.”

Census:  

Genealogy:

Accused:  

___
Ethnicity:



Race:


w
Gender:

m


Age:


adult


Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:

soldiers
Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim:  

___
Ethnicity:



Race:


Ind
Gender:

f


Age:


adult


Literate:




Marital Status:


Children:




Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1814, Feb. 15




Rutland, RUT

P

CT

TRACT

Class:   certain

Crime:   HOM / M-2 / DELAYED SUI before execution

Rela:    NONDOM FRIEND by FRIEND

Motive:  QUARREL over GAMBLING

Intox?:  prob. both

Day of week:
T

Holiday?:



Time of day:
night

Days to death:  0


SUSPECT(s):
James Anthony

VICTIM(s):
Joseph Green


Weapon:  Mortal wound to head from a cooling iron.  Squeezed and pressed JG's neck.  Clubbed JG with a large stick of wood.


Circumstances:  quarrel late at night over card game.


Inquest:  


Indictment:  yes, murder


Term:  3/1814


Court proceedings:  3/1814t:  pNG.  fG.  DEATH.  But committed suicide by hanging himself in his cell on the morning of the day set for his execution, 4/14/1814.

Legal records:  


Rut. Co. Sup. Ct. v. 107: 231-238


Rut. Co. Sup. Ct. files, folder 307, 2/1814t:  #34, 35, 36, 37


Journal of the General Assembly of Vermont, 1814:  34

Newspaper:  


DOVER SUN 3/5/1814:  HOM in VT:  dtl Rutland, Vt., 2/23:  "A TALE OF HORROR."  T evening, 2/15, Mr. Joseph Green ("a young merchant of this village," 27. son of Deacon Ezekial Green of Rutland) "missing from home; but little alarm, however, was experienced . . . until the Thursday evening following some of his friends supposing he might have probably left town on urgent business, in one of the states; but the northern and eastern stages having arrived . . . suspicions as to his fate had entered the breasts of many."  James Anthony, a hatter by trade, "was strongly suspected of being accessory to his secretion, if not murder, in consequence of marks of violence which appeared on his face . . . .  His shop was searched."  "On removing a pile of wood which was placed under the stairs that reached the upper loft, the mangled remains of the murdered Green were discovered."


Farmer's Cabinet 1814:  3/7/1814:  Farmer's Cabinet:  HOM in VT:  a notice of the murder in Rutland, VT of Joseph Green by John Anthony.  [didn't copy the details from this article, which were accurate but which were the same as in the murder tract.]


Farmer's Cabinet 1814:  3/21:  convicted, sentenced to be hanged.


Farmer's Cabinet 1814:  4/23:  JA hanged self in cell the morning of his scheduled execution.


Green Mountain Freeman, 2/22/1814:  HOMICIDE in VT:  
ed. implies robbery was Anthony's motive, introducing the story by saying that "Mr. Joseph Greene, a merchant" of Rutland, "having been talking of going to Boston, with a considerable charge of money."  But article gives no further insights into the motive for the crime.  //  GMF 3/22:  XEROX:  detailed article.

Other sources:  

"Facts relating to the murder of Joseph Green by James Anthony, of Rutland, Vermont on the 15th of February, 1814 as stated by the judge in his charge." N.p., n.d.  (at American Antiquarian Society, Worcester, MA)  McDade #16


"Trial of James Anthony, for the murder of Joseph Green:  before the Hounourable Supreme Court of the State of Vermont, at their adjoined term in the county of Rutland, February 28, A.D. 1814." Rutland: Fay and Davison, 1814.  (at American Antiquarian Society, Worcester, MA)  McDade #17


Preface by the printer:  "The publishers of the following report deem no other apology necessary, than what will natrually suggest itself to every member of society:  the utility resulting to community from the punishment of crimes when detected -- and the certainty of that punishment, as a means of detering others from evil-doing."  Published on 3/7/1814.


Trial:


Shop described.  50' by 16', stairs up to the bowing room.  On the east side of the highway to the rear of two large buildings.  Finishing, dyeing rooms on first floor; chimney between them.


Indictment:  2 grand jurors were excused, one an uncle of the victim, another had participated in the coroner's inquest.  Mortal wound to head from a cooling iron.  Squeezed and pressed JG's neck as well and clubbed him with a large stick of wood.


pNG.  Counsel:  Daniel Chipman and Rollin Mallary for the defense.  Charles K. William, State's Attorney.


All jurors seated:  no objections.  (from Tinmouth, Wallingford, Castleton, Middletown, Ira)


JG was a merchant.  He went from the store of Thomas Hooker, c. 7:30pm on T night to his own store, where b/w 8 & 9pm he saw his clerk, Ezekial Green, Jr. (his younger brother).  JG left to go home and had not been heard from since.  He was missed on Wednesday and his disappearance excited some alarm.  [[suggests JG was responsible, well known, and well-connected]]  His friends and family assumed he had gone to Boston on "some urgent business, which he had not thought proper to communicate."  (10)


Bruises and marks on the face of JA aroused comment.  Supposed by some that an affray had occurred between JA and JG and that JG was nursing his wounds in private and "on that account had withdrawn from public observation."  (10)



Suspicion fell on JA, but "so unwilling . . . were people in general to believe that a crime of this magnitude had been committed, that many still doubted."  (10)  JA gave improbable accounts of 1) the pile of wood under the stairs, 2) his bloody clothes, 3) why JG's hat was up JA's chimney, 4) blood that had been washed from the finishing room walls.  The body was found on F morning after a search.  Note:  JA's story changed constantly.  He could not account for his actions on T night.  He did not go to Whitehall on W to deliver hats, as he had told others he would do.  His face was bloody on W orning.  He said that he could not get a horse and so stayed in town.


Deacon Green (father of the victim) asked Elder ___ McCuller, James D. Butler, Samuel Parker, ___ Osgood, and ___ Brown to search the shop once more.  Elder McCuller pressed the investigation and insisted that the pile of wood be moved.  The response of the prisoner when the body was found:  "Prisoner replied, I did not do it.  I said, you are a wicked man, I believe.  He said, with a smile upon his face, I don't know who put him there . . ."  (16)


 James D. Butler (store owner):  knew JA & JG.  Knew that JG had sent business to Boston via another person because of "the situation of his family."  JDB surprised to hear that JG might have gone to Boston on W. (17)  JA appeared in JDB's store on W morning as if he had been fighting.  JG told his bloody nose story & JDB said "he had best tell of that often, or people would suspect he had been fighting."  (17)


William Green (JG's brother):  wit. was uneasy.  After the stage returned with no news of JG, the search began (in which JA participated).  Deacon Green suspected JA "on account of his wounds."  (17)


Charlotte Ormsbee (lives with JDB):  her bedroom has a view of JA's shop.  She saw light and heard noise all night on T.


Major Nathan Osgood:  going from his house "to the office" on F morning, 2/18.  First he had heard of JG being missing (from Charles K. Williams, State's Atty.).  Spoke to Deacon Green about his son and went to the house of Issachr Reed, Esq.  Saw JA there, who was "cheerful" and who "said he wished he was innocent of every thing."  (19)


William K. Shaw (lives at JDB's house):  at JA's shop on T.  JA said he was going to Whitehall, NY, the next day "to carry some hats" currently stored at Gordon's store.  Wit. was at Hall's store till 9pm, then he returned home and saw light in JA's shop and JA at the west window which faces the highway.  [[was JA looking for someone?  waiting for someone to arrive?]]  Both wit. and Ormsbee were awakened (T 11:25 pm) by a noise and saw light late at night in JA's shop and heard pounding.  Wit. saw JA next morning at the cistern and asked him about the noise.  Wit. told JA "he looked as if he had been fighting."  (24)  JA again claimed that he had suffered a nosebleed.  Then JA partly confessed.  JA said that JG was missing and that he and JG had been fighting.  Wit. first suspected JA on F, when JA claimed h went to sleep at 9pm on T.


Nicholas Goddard:  wit. heard often on W & Th of JG's disappearance.  Wit. spoke with several neighbors at Red's on F morning.  Suspicion centered on JG.


Hiram Watkins (who lives with Abel Page):  wit. heard noises on T night "like an animal in distress" from the direction of JA's shop.  Wit. went into [Anson] Reed's shoemaking shop and got Aaron Barns.  They came outside together and listened.  Both heard the nose c. 9pm or 10pm.  Stood against Abijah Lothrop's store.


John Warren:  (p. 29)  wit. heard 2 shrieks b/w 9pm & 10pm T night, as he passed opposite the alley to JA's shop on his way from Anson Reed's shoemaker's shop to Isaacher Red's.  wit. saw JG and prisoner at Anson Reed's shop b/w 6pm and 7pm T.  JW went out & JG followed him "and jumped upon my back.  [[note the physicality]]  There came along a man that knew Green, and spoke to him; he had a basket in his hand, in which h said he had eggs.  Green jumped off my back and bartered him for eggs.  I passed on and left them."


Thomas Miller:  (p. 30)  wit. at JA's shop last fall.  JA called JG "a rogue and scoundrel, and that such fellows ought not to live; and I should find green would not long, unless he behaved better."


Nathan Osgood:  (pp. 30-1)  wit. heard JA's tall tales.  1)  JA claimed that he went to Osgood's house T night.  "he said he went after a girl, and named her."  Wit. did not see her; family asleep.  JA said that he didn't mention it earlier because "he did not wish to have it known that he went after such girls."  Then JA claimed a person had asked to use his shop that night "for the purpose, as he supposed, of gambling."  NO was not present--did not know of the murder.  2)  JA said that a person had asked him for the use of the shop and "asked him if he did not want some of Joseph's money."  JA returned and found JG and "a certain person" sitting on his bunk before the fire with a bottle of spirits.  [[according to JDB's testimony, p. 32, the implicated person "was singing some funny songs."]]  The person got up, took liquor, set it down, then struck JG with a 2.5' long walnut stick.  JG struggled.  JA secured his legs to prevent resistence and to keep the bunk bed from toppling.  JG then watched out for people coming to inquir.  Together they hid the body and cleaned up the premises.  They burned JG's shirt, pantaloons, and walnut cane.  JG slept at Esq. Hyde's on W, in his own shop on Th, expecting that "certain persons" were to remove the body on W night.


James D. Butler recalled:  on wit.'s interrogation of the person "implicated" by JA.  "It was found necessary, to prevent altercation, that one should tell his story first."  JA's story:  after the murder, they "took some gin to drink, and then consulted where to deposit the body."  (p. 32)  "He said that the implicated person said that he wanted to get Joseph's money, . . . .  The prisoner said he did not know that Green was to be murdered, bnut expected to get his money by some means. . . .  He replied that the person whom he had implicated had killed Green, and his Maker knew it."  (p. 32)


Summary by Chief Justice Nathaniel Chipman:  [which reveals that JA and JG were friends]  "Malice prepense, or aforethought, does not necessarily imply a previous dislike or hatred of the person murdered, in particular; but a perverse and wicked disposition of mind, a disposition regardless of the lives of others:  this is what the law intends by malice aforethought.  The malice may be expressly proved to have existed, or it may be presumed from the act of killing; for, the act itself of killing, standing unexplained, is itself the strongest evidence of the malice, or of a wicked and perverse disposition."  (p. 34)


The homicide was a manslaughter only if the defendant can prove the homicide was justified or necessary, or committed "upon sudden heat and provocation."  (p. 34)  Otherwise, must assume it was motivated by malice.  [[NOTE the values here in Vermont:  killing is itself proof of malice and perversity.]]


"Old grudges, hatreds, and quarrels may be shown to have existed, and threats of murder or personal harm to have been made; these prove express malice, and make the killing to be murder, which would otherwise have been but manslaughter.  But the act of killing itslf proves the malice, unless the circumstances, as I have before observed, wipe it away."  (p. 34)  "I am, indeed, aware, that it has been holden by some of considerable influence among us, that proof of express malice is essential and requisite to a convictoin for murder; but the doctrine is not more repugnant to the principles of law than it is dangerous to our peace, and to the security of our lives."  (p. 34)  E.g., shooting a gun into a crowd proves malice, even if there were no prior hatred of the person killed.  "All matters of excuse, or justification, are to be shewn by the prisoner or the defendant."  (p. 34)


Stands up for presumptive proof as well:  "Deliberate murder is generally committed in secret.  If we reject this evidence, murder will, in most instances, pass unpunished."  E.g., if a person were found dead in a room and if a person were to run from the room with a bloody weapon.  "in such case, we are irresistably led to the conclusion, that the fugitive committed the murder.  What other rational conclusion can be drawn?"  (p. 35)


"It is, indeed, gentlemen, a serious and very painful duty that has devolved upon you.  Your determination is of the greatest moment to the prisoner.  Weigh well, then, the importanec of your verdict to him.  Extend to him all that compassino and indulgence that is consistent with your oaths and the law; but at the same time remember, that society, that justice have a right to demand of you a true and faithful performance of your duty, however painful to you, or serious in its consequences to the prisoner."  (p. 37-8)\


It is sufficient that he helped commit the murder to sentence him to death.


The facts from the judge's charge to the jury:  JG had been missing since 8-9pm on T, 2/15.  It was thought that he had gone to Boston on the stage.  His body was found on F, 2/18.  The murder probably occurred T night or early W morning.



The murder was committed with the tools of a hatter--a "cooling iron."  William K. Shaw and Charlotte Ormsbee heard noise and pounding from JA's shop on the night of the murder.  JA testified, however, that he had gone to bed early and had knocked down the brick wall in his dye room some time before 2/15.  JA told Mr. Goodard on F morning of "the brush with Green as he termed it."  JA seemed unconcerned.



JG's body was concealed under a pile of wood.  His body was tied and covered with cloth from JA's shop--it was used to move the body.  JA was the sole occupant of the shop.  The murderer tried to stash JG's neck cloth and pocket book in an arch, and to wipe blood from the doors, walls, and ceiling in the finishing room (where the murder occurred).  JA's neck cloth was also concealed, as were JA's and JG's hats.  JA was found wearing bloody clothes.  He claimed he had fallen downstairs and had bloodied his nose.  The judge found that the physical evidence contradicted JA's claim.  The cut on JA's nose was not from a nosebleed and no blood was found on the stairs.  [JG's hat was white.  His pocket book, containing $47.75, was found unmolested.]



Confession:  JA claimed he was in north Rutland on the night and evening of the murder, that he let his shop "to a certain person" that evening and returned at 3am.  JA first claimed that he discovered the body in the morning, then claimed he had helped another man commit the murder.  The judge stated that if the latter story were true, it would have been second degree murder, rather than first degree murder, but the punishment would be the same.



Verdict:  fG by the jury after 5 or 8 minutes of deliberation.  DEATH.


JA replies that he has no cause why the sentence should not be carried out.


The judge's sentence:  [[reveals Nathaniel Chipman's view of JA's character]]  "Daringly wicked" as the crime was, "your subsequent behaviour seems to evince a hardihood in crime which is rarely equalled in the annals of criminal jurisprudence.  After committing this atrocious act of violence on a fellow creature, by your own confessino, you went to bed in the same shop, to sleep the remainder of the night; you worked at your trade by the side of a mangled corps; and lodged in the adjoining room, one other night, before the body was found.  These facts, with the levity of your conduct when accused of the murder, together with your apparently malicious attempt to implicate others who appear innocent, will convince every rational mind of the turpitude of your heart, and that you have become familiar with vice.



By your conduct, you have forfeited your rights in society, and, even your right to existence on this earth:  for, it is written in that law dictated by Infinite Wisdom, and which is re-enacted by all civilized nations, 'that whoso shedeth man's blood, by man shall his blood be shed.'  You will, therefore, be swept by the hand of Justice from that land which you have wantonly stained with the blood of a fellow mortal."


"Let me entreat you, as a friend to your immortal soul, . . . ."  Asks JA to repent.  To hang 4/14.  "And may God Almighty have mercy on your soul."

Poem:  "Anthony's Tragedy," sung to the tune "Mortality"

. . . When lo arose an assasin wild, 



unfeeling and severe, . . .


The ev'ning of the horrid act,



As he was heard to tell,


He travers'd in a wanton track,



The lustful road to hell.


But disappointed of his prey



Although in darkness sought,


Rank lust to murder led the way . . .


O may repentence teach his mind



Aloud for grace to cry.


In early life he did begin



In lewd and wicked ways,


And now must end his course of sin,



Not numb'ring half his days.


May this a warning be to those



Who love the ways he trod,


Be wise and seek in early life



The fear and love of God.

Census:  

1810C:  

Abraham Anthony RUT 063 Rutland

M 26,45  F 10,16,45  // 18 sheep, 4 cattle, 3 horses, cloth (30:70:100)

Ezekial Green  RUT 070 Rutland

M 10,01,16,16,45  F 0,0,16,16  //  57 sheep, 30 cattle, 4 horses, cloth (60:70:220)

Genealogy:

JG:  son of Deacon Ezekial Green

Accused:  

James Anthony 

Ethnicity:

[nb English]

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  
s

Children:

n

Occupation:

hatter

Town:


Rutland

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim:  

Joseph Green

Ethnicity:

[nb English]

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


27

Literate:




Marital Status:

m

Children:

n

Occupation:

merchant

Town:


Rutland

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1814, July 21




Averill, ESS

CT

INQ

Class:   certain

Crime:   HOM

Rela:    POLITICAL SMUGGLER by AGENTS
Motive: SMUGGLING / VICTIM was RESISTING ARREST on a murder charge / IO

Intox?:  n

Day of week:
Th

Holiday?:
no
Time of day:
daytime

Days to death:  3


SUSPECT(s):
Gaius Kibbe (aided and abetted by Elihu D. Forrest, Richard Morgan, and Ebenezer Sparry)

VICTIM(s):
John Dennet


Weapon:  shot with a pistol "below and to right of lower extremity."  d. 7/24 in Guildhall


Circumstances:  inquest file:  GK shot JD.  The others clubbed JD.  JD was then carried in a wagon to Guildhall, where he died.


Inquest:  i.d. 7/22/1814 (anticipated the victim's death).


Indictment:  yes, GK for murder.  no, EDF, RM, ES, bnf for murder


Term:  9/1814


Court proceedings:  9/1814t:  GK pNG.  fNG.  

Legal records:  


Ess. Co. Sup. Ct. 3:  241


Ess. Co. files, inquest, testimony


Journal of the Gen. Assembly, 1814:  40


TESTIMONY


William S. Shepard (Guildhall):  Saw the wagon and the men come into town after the homicide.  The men told him that they had gone to the woods to arrest JD.  They forced him to get up and walk after they had shot and clubbed him.


Joseph Berry (Guildhall):  the party included Heman Beech, Ripley Webb, and the suspects.  JD was chopping with an ax in the woods.  JD told GK and others he would kill them if they tried to take him.  GK said that he would shoot if the ax were not dropped, and then fired.  JD ran .5 mi. before he fell.


John Dodge (Lemphill):  ditto JB.


Ahira Morrison (Canaan):  she heard GK say that "he had shot him and was glad of it that he had done God's service."

Newspaper:  

Census:  

1810C:

JD:  Canaan 239 ESS:  M  0,16,26  F  0,0,0,16,26

GK:  Minehead 238 ESS:  M 0,0,0,10,10,16,16,16,26






F 0,0,0,0,10,16,16,26

Genealogy:

Accused 1:  

Gaius Kibbe 

Ethnicity:

[nb English]

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:



Town:


Minehead

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Accused 2:  

Elihu D. Forrest

Ethnicity:

[nb English]

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:



Town:


Lemington

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Accused 3:  

Richard Morgan

Ethnicity:

[nb English]

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:



Town:


Lemington

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Accused 4:  

Ebenezer Sparry

Ethnicity:

[nb English]

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:



Town:


Lemington

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim:  

John Dennet

Ethnicity:

[nb English]

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


[38]

Literate:




Marital Status:  
m

Children:

y

Occupation:


hhld

Town:


Canaan

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1814, Aug. 16




Isle La Motte, GI

P

CT

HIST

Class:   certain

Crime:   HOM

Rela:    POLITICAL SUSPECT SPY by SAILORS
Motive:  SPYING wrongly alleged

Intox?:  poss. assailants

Day of week:
T

Holiday?:
no
Time of day:
night

Days to death:  0


SUSPECT(s):
Thomas Chambers and George Moore

VICTIM(s):
Caleb Hill


Weapon:  shotgun blast in the back.


Circumstances:  at the tavern (home) of the victim


Inquest:  


Indictment:  yes, both for murder


Term:  6/1815


Court proceedings:  6/1815t:  both pNG.  fG.  13 yrs. each.  Both pardoned, 10/1815.

Legal records:  


Fra. Co. Sup. Ct., 3:  180


Journal of the General Assembly of Vermont, 1815:  200

Newspaper:  


Vermont Mirror (Middlebury) 8/24 & 8/31 & 9/7/1814:  Lt. Drury tested CH's loyalty.  CH & his son thought they were British sailors.  The confusion led to a confrontation, shots, & death.

Other sources:  

L. L. Dutcher, The History of St. Albans, Vt. (St. Albans:  Stephen E. Royce, 1872), 295-6.  Three sailors "from our fleet on the lake, went ashore with a subordinate officer, and visited the dwelling-house of Judge Hill who kept an Inn on the Island.  After they had tarried in the house for a short time, Judge HIll, for some reason which has not been fully eplained, took up a musket and called on the men to surrender as his prisoners.  The officer in command ordered him men to fire."  H killed "on the spot.  The sailors . . . took refuge on board the vessel to which they belonged.  The people of the town were highly excited, as Judge Hill was one of the mowst respectable men in the place.  The next day an officer and posse of men were sent on board the vessel to arrest the offenders."  Commodore McDonough surrendered the 3 sailors, but refused to give up the officer.  The 3 sent to St. Albans, jailed, tried; "The charge of the presiding judge was unfvorable to the prisoners," so they were convicted of mansl.  The Legis. pardoned them unconditionally at its next session.



Sailors from the vessels on the lake were accustomed to stop at Judge Hill's house -- supposed that CH thought the 3 men were British sailors & tried to make them prisoners.  "But it did not appear that he had sufficient assistance at hand to carry such intentions into effect."


History:


Allen L. Stratton, History of the Town of Isle La Motte, Vermont (Barre, Northlight Studio Press, 1984), 51-55.  The account of Hon. Ira Hill (b. 8/14/1793) of his father's murder.  [a condensed acct. appears in Abby Maria Hemenway, Vermont Historical Gazetteer (Burlington:  A. M. Hemenway, 1871), 2: 555-556]


Caleb Hill was Capt. of a company of Vt. militia in Isle La Motte with 46 members in June, 1813.  [The account begins of the company's service during the war.  Ira Hill was a member of the company, though he looked like a boy & weighed less than 100 lbs at the time.]



"MACDONOUGH and Father became warm friends and with his officers spent much time at our place.  On the day preceeding the night of Father's death, MACDONOUGH took dinner with Father and remained till late in the aftgernoon, returning to his fleet with a good supply of green corn, new potatoes of which Father had made him a present.



That Father possessed MACDONOUGH's confidence I had abundant evidence.  Father's prominence in local affairs had had the inevitable result of incurring jealousy of a few of his neighbors.  This feeling was intensified by a greedy desire to supplant him as purveyor of supplies to our fleet.  They finally attempted to insinuate that Father was secretly acting in British interests.  This failed and I heard MACDONOUGH assure Father repeatedly that he knew the motives of these men, and that he had the utmost confidence in Father's integrity.



Numerous complaints had been made by the inhabitants of the Island regarding a small body of men in MACDONOUGH's command who would steal away from the fleet after dark and stealing chickens, pilfering gardens and generally harassing the Island inhabitants.  They belonged to the reckless class that always shows itself in time of war.  They had terrorized the Islanders to the limit of endurance and Father had been very outspoken in his denunciation of them.  During this last visit of MACDONOUGH, Father was particularly severe, urging MACDONOUGH his immediate personal attentionl.  MACDONOUGH was equally severe, assuring Father they would be punishe dwhen caught and ordering Father to arrest them at first opportunity.  It afterwards transpired that some of these very men were attending MACDONOUGH during this visit and had overheard all that was said." . . .



That evening "we had all retired I heard a knock at the back door and getting up and going down stairs, I reached the bottom just as Father emerged from his bedroom.  We found that a squad of seven men including an officer had entered the kitchen.  The officer carried his sword, the men their muskets.  They said that they had a hard tirp before them in returning to Canada some eight or nine miles distant and against the hard North wind.  The officer demanded to know the whereabouts of MACDONOUGH's fleet and Father told him it was just West of the North end of the Island.  The officer then asked, 'How do you people regard MACDONOUGH as an officer?'  Father replied, 'He will do his duty.'  He then asked for some refreshment, Father nodded to me and I brought some rum, sugar and glasses.  I then opened the front door, that they might get to their boat, I was startled by a guard outside, who placed a gun against my breast and pushed me back, cocking his gun as he did so.  He refused to come inside.  While the men were helping themselves at the counter, Father directed me in an undertone to bring the muskets from an adjoining room.  I remonstrated, that we were outnumbered and the guns were not loaded but he repeated his order and I obeyed.



The men were now in the storeroom seeking more rum.



As soon as Father received his musket, he stepped through the door and commanded the men to 'ground arms.'  All the men dropped their muskets to the floor except the guard at the door.  The officer dropping his glass, sprang forward and struck at Father with his sword, which he parried with his musket.  One of the men stooping down, fired his gun while the butt still rested on the floor, the bullet passing over our heards and lodging in the ceiling.  Two mroe shots were fired in rapid succession both of which took effect in Father's body.  One hit him in the breast as he turned and started to fall, the second entered his left side, passed through his heart and breast and embedded itself in the casing of the door.  Father fell face downward on the floor.  The soldiers then attacked me, the officer particularly with his sword.  I sprang out of the west door as he struck as me with his sword, cutting my face below my left eye, through the mouth to the end of my chin, which left me with a scar for life.



I ran in the darkness hiding behind the wood pile on the west side of the house.  The officer ran towards the lake supposing I had gone in that direction.  He found the rest of the men near their boat and shortly they put off on the lake.  I heard Mother cry and running in through the west door, found her putting out the fire on Father's clothing, the muzzle of the gun had been so near that it had set his clothing on fire.



I sent my younger brother CALVIN to summon the neighbors, the nearest of whom lived a mile away.  MARY SCHOOLCRAFT and SALLIE HOLBROOK who were living at our house, soon joined us.  I tried to console Mother as best I could."



Lt. MACDONOUGH "did everything in his power to detect the guilty men."  Court martial held on board the fleet:  4 of the 7 or 8 men fG, but before sentence was passed, "they managed to escape from the fleet and were never afterwards apprehended as far as I know."  



NOTE:  DIFFERENT FROM OTHER ACCOUNTS ON THE MATTER OF THE PUNISHMENT OF THE MURDERERS

Census:  


1810C:  no Caleb Hill in Vt

Genealogy:


Allen L. Stratton, History of the Town of Isle La Motte, Vermont (Barre, Northlight Studio Press, 1984), 301-307.

Accused 1:  

Thomas Chambers 

Ethnicity:

Irish

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


20

64"

Literate:




Marital Status:  
[s]

Children:

[no]

Occupation:

sailor in U.S. Navy under Lt. Drury in the Lake Champlain fleet

Town:


transient / "now of St. Albans"

Birthplace:

b. Dublin, Ireland

Religion:




Organizations:



Accused 2:  

George Moore 

Ethnicity:



Race:


b
negro

Gender:

m

Age:


25

60"

Literate:




Marital Status:  
[s]

Children:

[no]

Occupation:

sailor in U.S. Navy under Lt. Drury in the Lake Champlain fleet

Town:


transient / "now of St. Albans"

Birthplace:

b. Horseneck, Danbury Co., CT

Religion:




Organizations:



Victim:  

Caleb Hill

Ethnicity:

[nb English]

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


47

Literate:

yes

Marital Status:

m. 1790 to Cynthia (Strong) at Granville, NY

Children:

12 ch.

Occupation:

taverner, farmer, judge, large landowner [at one time owned 1/4 of the island]

Town:


Isle La Motte

Birthplace:

b. West Greenwich, RI; moved to ILM from Granville, NY in 1803

Religion:




Organizations:

Asst. Judge of the Grand Isle Co. Court, 1813-1814; a Federalist; selectman, 1804, 1809, 1810, 1812; town treasurer, 1806, 1811-1814; town rep., 1813; delegate to Vt. Const. Convention, 1814; a Mason

1814, Nov. 15




Windsor, WDS

P

CT

HIST

TRACT

Class:   certain

Crime:   HOM MANSL

Rela:    INSTITUTION WARDEN by PRISONER

Motive:  ANGER at DISCIPLINARY ACTION / QUARREL

Intox?:  n

Day of week:
T

Holiday?:



Time of day:


Days to death:  17


SUSPECT(s):
Samuel E. Godfrey

VICTIM(s):
Thomas Hewlett


Weapon:  knife wound to left side, 6" deep, near the 2nd false rib.  d. 12/2.


Circumstances:  in the shoemaking room in the Vermont State Prison.  SEG meant to attack the overseer of the weaving room, Thomas Rogers, an assistant keeper of the VtStP, who had accused SEG of making extra cloth for the purpose of stealing it.  If sustained, the charge would have put SEG in solitary confinement and ruined his chance for parole.  TH intervened in the fight b/w SEG and TR, and was stabbed.


Inquest:  


Indictment:  yes, for murder


Term:  9/1815


Court proceedings:  9/1815:  pNG.  fG.  DEATH.  Many appeals.  Executed 2/13/1818.



9/1815t:  SEG petitioned for a new trial after his first conviction.  He claimed self-defense and said that his crime was manslaughter, not murder.  TH had hit SG in the head with a sword and had wounded him.  SG was just getting up as he stabbed at TH.  SG was still on one hand and one knee when the attack occurred.  SG claims that Sewall Cutting and one Wait had heard TC admit this before he died.  John Martin, a prisoner since pardoned for his testimony against SG, was an unreliable witness, according to the defense.  The defense hopes that JM will now gainsay the testimony of Rogers, the principal government witness. (5:  536)



11/1817:  SG was granted a new trail, also because a juror had been challenged and seated despite having formed an opinion on the case.  The defense took great care to secure neutral jurors.  pNG.  fG.  Sentenced once again to death on 2/18/1818 (2nd Friday) b/w 10am & 3pm.  (5:  598)



1/1818:  SG seeks a new trial.  He wants to poll the jurors individually.  He wants to quash the indictment because the crime was committed in sudden passion.  No malice aforethought.  Petition denied.

Legal records:  


Windsor Co. Sup. Ct. 3:  523, 536, 598;  4:  14


Journal of the General Assembly, 1814:  194

Newspaper:  


Vermont Gazette 12/2/1817:  notice of Samuel Godfrey's third trial.

Other sources:  

Samuel Godfrey, "A Sketch of the Life of Samuel E. Godfrey." Windsor, VT, 1818.  (at the American Antiquarian Society)  McDade #356


Samuel Godfrey, "A Sketch of the Life of Samuel E. Godfrey." Hanover, NH: David Watson, Jr., 1818.  (at the Boston Athenaeum, Boston, MA)  McDade #355


John Reynolds, History of Windsor Prison (1834), 38-48.  JR, a native of England who wrote a history of the Vermont State Prison after serving a seven-year term for burglary, considered SG "a criminal by aggravation."  (39)  SG stood on the verge of a pardon because of his good record and his wife's efforts to free him, when he was reported.  SG was to weave a number of yards of cloth each day as "his task."  As usual, he did his work well, and while conversing with the keeper "remarked that he had done more than he meant to. - This gave offense, and he immediately corrected the expression, and gave, as what he designed to say, that he wove more than he thought he had.  But this did not give satisfaction."  The keeper consulted the master weaver and reported SG to the warden for "insolence," which Rogers, the keeper, did.  (The master warden was named F***)  (40-1)


The penalty for insolence:  solitary confinement for a week or more.  A stone cell "dark as a tomb," no bed or blanket, 4 oz. of bread each day, water to drink, "and before he can be released from this grave of the living, he must humble himself, plead guilty, whether he is or not, acknowledge the justice of his sufferings, and promise to do better."  "suffering and ignominy."  (41-2)


Going out of the dining room after dinner, the warden ordered SG to stop [ergo, SG being sent to solitary].  Hewlett, the warden.  "the thought of the punishment to which he had been so unjustly and unfeelingly devoted, crossing his mind, he became enraged" and determined "to be avenged" on the keeper.  (42)  A fight ensued [as per the text in the tract on the murder].  Reynold notes that H & R had sharp & heavy swords & had "mangled" SG's head.  SG was bleeding so badly that a prisoner tried to restrain H "and begged him for Go dsake not to commit murder.  It was during this struggle that Mr. Hewlett received a stab in his side" from SG.  Ergo:  TH was hit as a prisoner "laid hold" of him to keep him off of SG.  Ergo:  SG did try to hit H, even thought his first target was R.


SG taken to solitary.  "no attention" paid to his wounds.  "He used to keep his head bound up with a piece of cotton cloth, and constantly wet with urine, the only medicine he could obtain," and thus preserved his life for the execution.


JR's point:  the prison system and its keepers were at fault.


SG did not want to plead manslaughter, according to JR:  "No . . . not the prison, but the gallows - if I cannot have liberty, give me death, - I would rather die than go back to prison for six months."  (44)


Titus Hutchinson and Charles Marsh defended SG ably.  The guards at VtStP tormented SG cruelly until his sentence, then he got a "good room" from Mr. Adams, his keeper, who was kind.  SG made some toys, which he sold to provide himself "little articles of comfort."  SG also visited with his wife.  He wrote a confession, cried when he wife left for the last time.  Then said as she passed out of sight, "It is all over -- you will see no more tears from me.  This is what I have long dreaded; it is now past, and I shall die like a man."



NOTE:  Luther Virginia and SG, both of whom had led rough lives and who had lived for the most part in poverty, made it a point to die the right way, to be tough and unflinching.  How did they differ emotionally from Rebecca Peake and James Anthony, who committed suicide?


Roth, Randolph (1994) "The Other Masonic Outrage: The Death and Transfiguration of Joseph Burnham." Journal of the Early Republic 14:  .  The essay discusses living conditions, disciplinary practices, and the abuse of prisoners in the Vermont State Prison.

Census:  inconclusive -- 1810C

SG:  Arlington 082 BEN

M  0,16,16,26  F  0,16,26

TW:  Wallingford 216 RUT

M  0,26  F  16,16

TW:  Mt. Tabor 210 RUT

M  10,16,45,45  F  0,26

Genealogy:


SEG:  a veteran of the U.S. Navy (who deserted), joined a colonial expedition to Spanish Florida, and was impressed into the British navy.  He enlisted in the U.S. Army, 8/1812.  He committed a theft while trying to desert, and was convicted for that crime and sentenced to prison.  //  he m. Mary (Watson) of Granville, Nova Scotia, in 8/1806.  She was a member of the Baptist church in Windsor.  //  SEG led a rough, fighting life, and kept company with a rough crowd.  He knew James Anthony, who was condemned to die for a murder he had committed in Rutland.

Accused:  

Samuel E. Godfrey 

Ethnicity:

nb English

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


32

Literate:




Marital Status:  
m. Mary (Watson) 8/1806

Children:




Occupation:

seaman, hatter

Town:


transient, lately of Rutland

Birthplace:

Chatham, Mass.

Religion:

(Mary Watson was a member of the Baptist church in Windsor)

Organizations:



Victim:  

Thomas Hewlett

Ethnicity:

[nb English]

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:


Children:




Occupation:

warden of Vermont State Prison

Town:


Windsor

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1815, June 5




Waltham, ADD

P

CT

Class:   certain

Crime:   HOM

Rela:    RELATIVE FATHER-IN-LAW by SON-IN-LAW

Motive:  [GRUDGE]

Intox?:  

Day of week:
M

Holiday?:



Time of day:


Days to death:  0


SUSPECT(s):
Selah Hickok

VICTIM(s):
Isaac Hobbs


Weapon:  large stick to the neck (green cane), several hits, d. inst


Circumstances:  at home of Hickok.


Inquest:  


Indictment:  yes, murder


Term:  6/1815


Court proceedings:  6/1815t:  pNG.  fG of mansl.  13 yrs.  Admitted 7/1815.  Pardon, 10/1820.

Legal records:  


Sup. Ct., 3:  128


J. of the Gen. Ass., 1815, 194

Newspaper:  


Vermont Mirror (Middlebury), 6/7 & 7/12/1815


Rutland Herald, 11/7/1820


New Hampshire Gazette, 6/20/1815:  HOM IN VT:  a report of Isaac Hobbs (73), murdered by his son-in-law, Selah Hancock.  dtl Middlebury.


"there had long existed a family quarrel . . . .  Mr. Hobbs being at the house of Hancock, a contest arose, he was ordered out of the house, went out, was followed by Hancock, and beaten by him with a club so that he died.  The wounds were inflicted on, and near the back part of the neck, the spine of which being broken, occasioned almost instant death."


Arrested; inquest jury finds willful murder.


Farmer's Cabinet 1815:  6/24:  HOM in VT:  RUN THE ISAAC HOBBS MURDER in Waltham, VT, dtl Rutland:  victim (73)

Census:  

no Hickok in Waltham, 1800C or 1810C:  many poss. spellings checked

1800C:  Isaac Hobbs in Waltham  M 16,16,45  F 10,16,45

1810C:  no IH

Genealogy:

no town history at VHS

Accused:  

Selah Hickok 

Ethnicity:

[nb English]

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


43

Literate:




Marital Status:  
m. to Sarah, who divorced him in 1822

Children:




Occupation:



Town:


Waltham

Birthplace:

b. Litchfield, CT

Religion:




Organizations:



Victim:  

Isaac Hobbs

Ethnicity:

[nb English]

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


73

Literate:




Marital Status:


Children:

yes

Occupation:



Town:


Waltham

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



[1819]




ORA

CT

Class:   probable

Crime:   HOM

Rela:    NONDOM

Motive:  UNK

Intox?:  

Day of week:


Holiday?:



Time of day:


Days to death:  


SUSPECT(s):
Noah Shepard

VICTIM(s):
John Denison (aka John Dyer, Jr.)


Weapon:  


Circumstances:  


Inquest:  


Indictment:  yes, murder


Term:  2/1819


Court proceedings:  2/1819t:  bound for trial at June term.

Legal records:  


Journal of the Gen. Assembly 1819:  228


not in court records

Newspaper:  


Vermont Journal, 1/4 - 3/15/1819; 6/7 - 7/12/1819:  nothing

Other sources:  

no town histories for Thetford, Brookfield, or Tunbridge; nothing in Hemenway

Census:  

1820C:  many Shephards in Orange Co.; no JD

1810C:  no JD

Noah Shepard:  Hartland 609 WDS:  M  0,0,26  F  0,0,10,26

Philip Shephard:  Thefford 407 ORA

___ [illeg] Shephard:  ditto

Ransell Shepard:  Brookfield 377 ORA

Thomas Shepard:  Tunbridge 359 ORA

Genealogy:  

Accused:  

Noah Shepard 

Ethnicity:

[nb English]

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim:  

John Denison (aka John Dyer, Jr.)

Ethnicity:

[nb English]

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:


Children:




Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1819, Nov. 14




Highgate, FRA

P

CT

HIST

Class:   certain

Crime:   HOM

Rela:    NONDOM

Motive:  ROBBERY

Intox?:  yes, assailant; and poss. victim

Day of week:
Sun

Holiday?:
no
Time of day:
sunset

Days to death:  0


SUSPECT(s):
Luther Virginia

VICTIM(s):
Rufus W. Jackson


Weapon:  stick of wood to the back of the head


Circumstances:  .5 mi. from the store where LV had once worked.  Ambused RWJ and knocked him from his horse.


Inquest:  yes


Indictment:  yes, murder


Term:  12/1819


Court proceedings:  12/1819t:  pNG.  fG.  DEATH.  Executed 1/14/1820.

Legal records:  


Fra. Co. Sup. Ct. 3:  472, 575

Newspaper:  


Rutland Herald, 11/30/1819 & 2/1/1820


New Hampshire Patriot (Concord) 1820:  1/11:  HOM in VT:  NOTE trial of Luther Virginia in St. Albans, fG


New Hampshire Patriot (Concord) 1820:  2/15:  HOM in VT:  NOTE EXECUTION OF Luther Virginia in St. Albans, 6000 to 8000 attended.

Other sources:  

Abby Maria Hemenway, Vermont Historical Gazetteer (Burlington:  A. M. Hemenway, 1871), 2: 298.  LV "of intemperate and dishonest habits."  Had worked for Mr. Herrick, an innkeeper at Highgate, and had been convicted of stealing money from the bar.  When LV was released from prison, he settled in Canada, near the Highgate line.  On Sunday afternoon, 11/14/1819, came to H's partly drunk and demanded liquor.  He was refused & became quarrelsome with Mr. Herrick and with Rufus W. Jackson, who was present.  LV was finally expelled from the inn and started (as was supposed) for home.  Near sunset, RWJ went to the northern part of town, crossed a bridge over the Missisquoi River, and ascended the hill beyond, when he was knocked from his horse by LV and beatened to death.  LV drew the body out of the road.  RWJ's horse returned to the tavern, riderless.


LV was found at his home in Canada.  RWJ's watch had been "secreted" under LV's bed.  [the rest of Hemenway's account of the capture & hanging is the same as in other acccounts.  Rev. Phinea Culver delivered the execution sermon, from Genesis 9: 6]

Census:  

1810C:

Elijah Jackson:  Highgate 257 FRA:  M  26  F  0,0,0,10,26

Genealogy:

Accused:  

Luther Virginia 

Ethnicity:



Race:


b

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  
m

Children:




Occupation:

laborer

Town:


Canada (near the Highgate line); formerly of Highgate

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim:  

Rufus W. Jackson

Ethnicity:

[nb English]

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult
young man
"unimpeachable character"

Literate:

y

Marital Status:

[s]

Children:

n

Occupation:

clerk in the store of Samuel Keyes, Esq. for 5 years

Town:


Highgate

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



 [1820]




Montpelier, WAS

P

Class:   do not count

Crime:   SUSPICIOUS / SKELETON 

Rela:    

Motive:  

Intox?:  

Day of week:


Holiday?:



Time of day:


Days to death:  


SUSPECT(s):
unk. person

VICTIM(s):
unk. person


Weapon:  


Circumstances:  a skeleton found at the old "Eaton tavern" stand, which was long since removed by 1867.  Suspicious of foul play.


Inquest:  


Indictment:  


Term:  


Court proceedings:  
Legal records:  

Newspaper:  


Burlington Free Press 4/26/1867

Census:  

Genealogy:

Accused:  

___

Ethnicity:



Race:




Gender:




Age:





Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim:  

___

Ethnicity:



Race:


b
"negro"

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:


Children:




Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Suspect(s

























































































Suspect(s





Suspect(s





Suspect(s








Suspect(s














Suspect(s





Suspect(s











Suspect(s








Suspect(s








Suspect(s





Suspect(s








Suspect(s








Suspect(s








Suspect(s





Suspect(s





Suspect(s





Suspect(s





Suspect(s





Suspect(s





Suspect(s





Suspect(s








Suspect(s





Suspect(s





Suspect(s








Suspect(s








